
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, November 17, 2021

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

21-1613 Common Council Meeting Minutes of November 3, 2021 and November 

10, 2021

CC Minutes 11-3-21.pdf

CC Minutes 11-10-21 Budget Adoption.pdf

Attachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

21-1620 Information Technology Director Recommendation 

 

IT Director Recommendation to Council.pdfAttachments:

21-1619 COVID-19 Report

 

COVID-19 Common Council Update 111721.pdfAttachments:

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

21-1546 Public Hearing for Rezoning #11-21, Lightning Drive/CTH JJ Annexation, 

from Temporary (AG) Agricultural District to P-I Public Institutional District

 

RZ #11-21_Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20361
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f906e16e-7324-45e1-ab9b-22fc86bfdcdf.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=66929ace-6101-4897-9601-52852e9c902e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20368
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=42d4dcd6-883c-4628-8d05-9d4f390ab57c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20367
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f842d9c2-d736-4beb-b5e6-c9667364bd9d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20294
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=29406d53-ee90-4fa8-a1f5-2a71cff77953.pdf


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-1547 Public Hearing for Rezoning #12-21, Ziegler Mackville Rd & EE 

Annexation, from Temporary (AG) Agricultural District to R-1B Single 

Family District

RZ #12-21_Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

21-1618 Resolution Assigning Polling Places as a result of Redistricting

 

Polling Place Assignment Resolution 2022.pdfAttachments:

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

21-1578 Proposed changes to Municipal Code Section 9, Division 3-Central 

Business District Street Vendors.

 

Municipal Code Section 9 Division 3 changes.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-1579 Request for approval for staff to develop a Parklet Policy.

 

Parklet Policy.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-1580 Approve 15 MPH speed limit designation on Washington Street from Story 

Street to Bennett Street.

 

800 W. Washington Speed Limit.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-1581 Approve parking restriction change on Atlantic Street, west of Lawe Street. 

(Follow-Up to Six-Month Trial Period.)

 

Atlantic St west of Lawe St parking restriction.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20295
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8b2b0f32-a064-4a3c-b82d-b49a70ed02aa.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20366
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=22c0b7fa-4110-4282-bc5a-9cadc1ce159f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20326
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=937ba20e-e5aa-4dfa-9eb6-e8ea6578af33.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20327
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5445df52-cd51-4dc3-8c54-6bf61cc6c1a6.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20328
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=74189b16-850c-48bd-a719-1fc0c780d98b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20329
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c5d66c67-42a8-4b9b-bf7d-78c61265c850.pdf


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

11/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

21-1448 Request to approve Rezoning #11-21 to rezone the Lightning Drive/C.T.H. 

JJ (Right-of-Way) Annexation, formerly part of the Town of Grand Chute, 

consisting of approximately 12.6622 acres generally located east of North 

Ballard Road and north of East Edgewood Drive, as shown on the 

attached maps, from Temporary AG Agricultural District to P-I Public 

Institutional District

StaffReport_LightningDrive_JJAnnex_Rezoning_For10-27-21.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/27/21 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on November 17, 2021.

21-1450 Request to approve Rezoning #12-21 to rezone the Ziegler Mackville Road 

& EE Annexation, formerly part of the Town of Center, consisting of 

approximately 1.4407 acres located at N2883 County Road EE, the 

southwest corner of North Ballard Road and East Mackville Road, including 

to the centerline of the adjacent N. Ballard Road right-of-way, as shown on 

the attached maps, from Temporary AG Agricultural District to R-1B 

Single-Family District

StaffReport_Ziegler_MackvilleRd_EEAnnex_Rezoning_For10-27-21.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/27/21 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on November 17, 2021.

21-1556 Request to approve the Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat for Center Valley at 

3800 located in the Town of Grand Chute as shown on the attached maps

StaffReport_CenterValleyat3800_PrePlat_For11-10-21.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/10/21 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

21-1563 Action Item:  Request Approval of Reid Golf Course 2022 Rates Policy

 

2022 Golf Rates Memo.doc

Reid Redline Policy.pdf

Reid Rate Policy 2022.docx

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20196
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aa6335d1-412f-4631-ab9d-46b6e73846be.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20198
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=be002ff1-f1a3-4533-a639-cd3072a2b6c5.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20304
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=00378dd7-2212-47c3-8bcc-f2008b8a8acb.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20311
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d0397586-ab4c-493a-bd01-2c7071ccb3a3.doc
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4399af15-42dc-465c-a03a-070d1658d142.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=35170e55-44a7-42c8-8ae1-6fb09453bbaf.docx


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-1564 Action Item: Request to Install Oversized Wooden Letters Spelling "RISE" 

Within Houdini Plaza

RISE-Houdini Plaza.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-1565 Action Item: Acre of Art Season III - Request for Extension of 2-Year 

Exhibition - "Gyan/Gesture of Conscience" Sculpture - Jones Park

 

Gyan-Gesture of Conscience Scupture-Jones Park.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-1566 Action Item: Acre of Art Season III - Request for Extension of 2-Year 

Exhibition - "To the Moon Alice" Sculpture - Vulcan Heritage Park

 

To The Moon Sculpture-Vulcan Heritage.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/8/21 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

21-1558 Request to approve 2022-2023PY Community Development Block Grant 

(CDBG) Community Partner Allocation Recommendations

Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC 11-10-21.pdf

2022 CDBG Advisory Board Membership.pdf

2022 CDBG Community Partner Award Recommendations.pdf

2022 CDBG Simple Summary Award Recommendations.pdf

Draft CDBG Policy 11-17-2021.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

21-1559 Request to approve the proposed amendments to the CDBG Policy as 

outlined in the attached documents

Amend CDBG Policy Memo to CEDC 11-10-21.pdf

Draft CDBG Policy 11-17-2021.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20312
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c7b226ad-3f50-4ede-9172-d87ee7dc23c6.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20313
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cbc758c3-0b22-4e92-b286-157272780565.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20314
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3a03eda0-cc14-4128-8430-5b0dd4cd7e33.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20306
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1a6cc65d-744b-47a9-b411-1100c744e40e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fe54ac63-331e-410b-8fd7-a4ee01aa6cd7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aea53d71-c9e1-41d2-be17-9bccf1dc4c64.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f21d942d-c386-424b-bacd-2028d5e54de0.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fac3bdb1-c9a7-4b92-b73b-68b3bc45cb99.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20307
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9ee6fbbf-5528-4c93-ae60-e037f60b3bef.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=25bb4573-2433-40ac-8b03-404d73fa7673.pdf


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

11/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

21-1560 Request to approve a one (1) month extension to the Planning Option 

Agreement with Merge, LLC (d/b/a Merge Urban Development Group) for 

a potential mixed-use development located on the former Blue Ramp site

Merge Option Extension Memo_11-10-21.pdf

Merge Option Extension 2.pdf

Merge Option Extension 1.pdf

Merge Signed Planning Option 2-6-20.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

Amendment to lengthen the extension to February 4, 2022.

Wolff moved, seconded by Alfheim, that the Report Action Item be amended for 

approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote: (5-0)

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

21-1570 Weights & Measures Fee Proposals

Fee Proposals  2021.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/10/21 Board of Health recommended for approval

21-1596 Neenah Weights & Measures Proposal

Neenah Weights & Measures Proposal.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

11/10/21 Board of Health recommended for approval

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20308
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1813e249-3cf6-4ba3-bb56-702434c7f096.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=630a4663-bfc3-4e6e-83c2-4c159457810f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e021436d-60fb-4934-b577-17e9146cbfa7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9d7d9853-e1b5-4d71-a463-cdd5311f95ab.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20318
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=62de6e8c-3f7c-4299-be4b-f4942c7e3db8.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20344
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=48c1073e-6b8a-446d-b08f-8d08ac2c7a54.pdf


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

19-1886 Request to rescind approval for "The Collective" sculpture within the E. 

College Avenue and N. Catherine Street right-of-way.

 

The Collective log of public dialogue-.pdf

Extension Support_McKee.pdf

Extension Support_Breseman.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

12/9/19 Municipal Services 

Committee

held

Item 19-1886 held until January 13, 2020.

1/13/20 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Amend item 19-1886.   City to work on alternate location in first quarter of 

2020.

1/22/20 Common Council referred to the Municipal Services Committee

1/27/20 Municipal Services 

Committee

held

Item 19-1886 be held until February 19, 2020 meeting.

2/19/20 Municipal Services 

Committee

held

Item 19-1886 be held until March 9th meeting.

3/9/20 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

3/18/20 Common Council held

4/1/20 Common Council approved

10/25/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Action extends lease to April 30, 2022 and this is a final amendment/extension.

11/3/21 Common Council held

21-1419 Reserve "Class B" Liquor and Class "B" Beer License Permanent 

Premise Amendment application for Fox River Boat Holdings Co. d/b/a 

River Tyme Bistro, Candice Mortara, Agent, located at 425 W Water St 

Unit 100.

River Tyme Bistro S&L.pdf

Denial Recommendation -River Tyme Bistro.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/13/21 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

held

10/27/21 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

The Premise amendment was recommended for approval contingent upon 

approval and recommendations from the Community & Economic Development 

Department, Fire Department, and Inspections Department.

11/3/21 Common Council held

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15021
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4e8adb31-6c92-44d7-b00a-5a6932e6bf72.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=857d5270-4227-4a4a-92f9-cf38f9ec3c94.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1baf4ae2-653a-4d6c-99b8-d00cb4ec0fe7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20167
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fd77d3a5-3214-416a-bca1-29587aa4cc92.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=74f1dc51-e034-4f13-a6b5-00f63b94110a.pdf


November 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

O. ORDINANCES

21-1617 Ordinances #76-21 and #77-21

Ordinances going to Council 11-17-21.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 7 City of Appleton Printed on 11/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20365
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=53dd2bb8-8e2c-405b-af75-9adca8bfbd04.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, November 3, 2021

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:01 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Hartzheim

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson Martin appeared virtually.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor 

Jake Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

21-1534 Common Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2021

 

CC Minutes 10-20-21.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Prohaska, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20282
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c3124cf2-9044-45b1-abbe-8be73544d27e.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

21-1548 Proclamations:

 - Appleton High Schools DECA Week

 - Native American Heritage Month

 - Runaway & Homeless Youth Prevention

 - Small Business Saturday

Appleton High Schools DECA Week Proclamation.pdf

Native American Heritage Month Proclamation.pdf

Runaway Homeless Youth Prevention Month Proclamation.pdf

Small Business Saturday Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

21-1550 COVID-19 Report

 

COVID-19 Common Council Update 11032021.pdfAttachments:

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

There was no one signed up to speak for Public Participation.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

21-1549 Resolution related to Wards in the City of Appleton, as a result of 

Redistricting

 

Census Block Resolution 2021 Redistricting.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Resolution be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe 

Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Joe Martin1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20296
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e24e5db2-acf0-4419-a86d-9ab79177185f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fcb00dd1-0e7d-42b4-8ca6-c9599a71084f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=eb703929-fb1d-4826-b89d-cbc4b9c256c7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ab227f20-bf50-45c3-9095-c9c32dee6d1d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20298
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a62a2bf6-1684-4997-a19a-9e94e150256b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20297
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=774f37eb-052d-4fd0-a05f-52eb59287a41.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

21-1345 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Tee Tees 

Nachos LLC, Timasha Thornton, Agent, located at 550 N Morrison St #C, 

contingent upon approval from all departments.

Tee Tees Nachos LLC Class A Combo.pdfAttachments:

This item was referred back to the Safety and Licensing Committee due back 

on 12/8/2021.

19-1886 Request to rescind approval for "The Collective" sculpture within the E. 

College Avenue and N. Catherine Street right-of-way.

 

The Collective log of public dialogue-.pdf

Extension Support_McKee.pdf

Extension Support_Breseman.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was held.

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe 

Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Alex Schultz and Mayor Jake Woodford2 - 

21-1419 Reserve "Class B" Liquor and Class "B" Beer License Permanent 

Premise Amendment application for Fox River Boat Holdings Co. d/b/a 

River Tyme Bistro, Candice Mortara, Agent, located at 425 W Water St 

Unit 100.

River Tyme Bistro S&L.pdf

Denial Recommendation -River Tyme Bistro.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Schultz moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Premise Amendment be held. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe 

Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Michael Smith1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20093
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fa78571c-2eee-4843-8706-4b68d84f96ab.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15021
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4e8adb31-6c92-44d7-b00a-5a6932e6bf72.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=857d5270-4227-4a4a-92f9-cf38f9ec3c94.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1baf4ae2-653a-4d6c-99b8-d00cb4ec0fe7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20167
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fd77d3a5-3214-416a-bca1-29587aa4cc92.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=74f1dc51-e034-4f13-a6b5-00f63b94110a.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1457 Action Item:  Award Mead Pool Condition Analysis Project to GRAEF for 

a contract amount of $44,975.00

 

Mead Pool Condition Anlysis Memo.docAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Prohaska, that the 

Analysis Project Item be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-1410 Request to approve the use of 2021 American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

funds and approve the related 2021 Budget amendment:

ARPA Special Revenue Fund

Salaries +$   900,000

Fringe Benefits +$   270,000

Miscellaneous Supplies +$     50,000

Medical/Lab Supplies +$   300,000

Miscellaneous Equipment +$     50,000

Consulting Services +$   150,000

Contractor Fee +$1,000,000

Other Contracts & Obligations +$   421,841

Grant Payments +$   250,000

Capital Outlay +$2,000,000

Transfer Out - Parking Utility +$1,500,000

Federal Grants +$6,891,841

to record 2021 ARPA funds received and related expenditures (2/3 vote 

of Council required)

 

Finance Committee - ARPA Memo.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Doran moved, seconded by Alderperson Smith, that the ARPA 

fund use be amended to remove the last three items as outlined in the 

attached memo; Broadband Access & Information Infrastructure $2,000,000, 

Short-term Direct Community Partner Support $250,000, Consulting & 

Administration Support $150,000. Roll Call. Motion failed by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Joe Martin and Alderperson Chad Doran2 - 

Page 4City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20205
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9e78a9e9-db51-47a4-905e-9701b8507428.doc
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20158
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9dc70e33-8dc3-4fdd-8d55-c05c0c1190ed.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Joe 

Prohaska

13 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Prohaska moved, seconded by Alderperson Smith, that the use of 

the ARPA funds be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Joe Prohaska

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Chad Doran1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Prohaska moved, Alderperson Hartzheim seconded, to approve 

the balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

21-0868 Request from Blue Sky Contractors for a street occupancy permit for four 

parking stalls (CAW 310, 312, 314 & 316) for the commercial 

development project at 318 W. College Avenue be approved from June 

14, 2021 through October 29, 2021 (except for September 24th and 

25th).

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 5City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17618


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1466 Request from Professional Services Industries, Inc. for a permanent 

street occupancy permit to install three monitoring wells in the alley 

adjacent to 306 W. Washington Street.

 

Professional Services Industries.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

21-1471 Class "A" Beer License application for True North Energy LLC d/b/a True 

North #822, Daniel J Pamperin, Agent, located at 3411 N Ballard Rd, 

contingent upon approval from all departments.

True North #822.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

21-1348 Request to approve the Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation 

consisting of approximately 1.4407 acres located at N2883 County Road 

EE, the southwest corner of North Ballard Road and East Mackville 

Road, currently in the Town of Center, as shown on the attached maps, 

subject to the stipulation in the attached staff report

StaffReport_ZieglerMackvilleRd_EE_Annexation_For10-13-21.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1349 Request to approve the Lightning Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way) 

Annexation consisting of approximately 12.6622 acres generally located 

east of North Ballard Road and north of East Edgewood Drive, currently 

in the Town of Grand Chute, as shown on the attached maps, subject to 

the stipulation in the attached staff report

StaffReport_LightningDr_JJ_Annexation_For10-13-21.pdf

DOA 14443_LightningDrJJAnnex_ReviewLetter.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 6City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20214
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3d213824-0a93-4e6f-b1c6-64c9337d2793.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20219
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f0144cd6-5182-4d98-8808-9ca12d480374.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20096
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6bf7bc34-a3a3-4312-8478-7db1062fe5d6.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20097
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3505b63f-4e42-4854-8463-bca2918fe3cd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=def42ad4-2b24-49dc-bc73-14844d865ff4.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1451 Request to approve the Spartan Drive (Right-of-Way) Annexation 

consisting of approximately 3.9468 acres generally located west of North 

Meade Street, connecting existing East Spartan Drive right-of-way to the 

west and east, currently in the Town of Grand Chute, as shown on the 

attached maps, subject to the stipulation in the attached staff report

StaffReport_SpartanDr_Annexation_For10-27-21.pdf

WI DOA_SpartanDrROWAnnex_ReviewLetter.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

21-1459 Request to award Unit O-21 Stormwater Pond Sediment Removal and 

Disposal to Veit & Company, Inc in the amount of $87,000 with a 5.8% 

contingency of $5,000 for a project total not to exceed $92,000

 

Award of Contract - Unit O-21.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1460 Request to approve the following 2021 Budget amendment:

Facilities Management Capital Projects Fund

Ellen Kort Park Phase I Project    +$750,645

Nelson River Crossing Project    - $750,645

to reallocate excess budget funds from the Nelson River Crossing project 

to the Ellen Kort Park Phase I project (2/3 vote of Council required)

 

2021 Ellen Kort Park - Phase I_.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 7City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20199
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c3d4706a-3381-4cb1-bf9a-d4335388f9ca.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=82350ddb-4db7-4882-9c89-ea9a079f618e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20207
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7f3f1c54-b106-47f1-a303-a1c81eb5a00b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20208
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4cb86b67-23b6-4e82-8a0a-c25d779cfe68.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1461 Request to approve the following 2021 Budget amendment:

Facilities Management Capital Projects Fund

MSB Office Renovation Project    +$  40,000

Roof Replacement Project    - $  40,000

to reallocate excess budget funds from the roof replacement project to 

the MSB office renovation project (2/3 vote of Council required)

 

2021 Municipal Services Budget transfer.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

21-1383 Request to approve the Development Agreement with MF Housing 

Partners, LLC for improvements and redevelopment of 6 parcels located 

on N. Oneida Street, E. Harris Street, and N. Appleton Street (Parcel 

Nos. 31-2-0441-00, 31-2-0443-00, 31-2-0437-00, 31-2-0536-00, 

31-2-0534-00, and 31-2-0529-00) in Tax Increment Financing District No. 

11

Rise Apts DA Memo to CEDC_10-27-21.pdf

0718-Rise 

Apts-MFHousingPartners-DevelopmentAgrmnt-DRAFT10-18-21.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

Page 8City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20209
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a9e4f77f-b0e5-410b-9786-00fdb8a90798.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20131
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=78968591-f432-4266-982e-9517a32ba046.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fd03760b-8b12-421e-9bc4-3d9d8fb04f0c.pdf


November 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1545 Ordinances #71-21 (Redistricting - Aldermanic Districts); #72-21 (Ziegler 

Mackville Road & EE Annexation); #73-21 (Lightning Drive & CTH JJ 

Annexation); #74-21 (Spartan Drive Annexation); and #75-21 

(Amendment to Ordinance #70-21, Relating to Boundaries and Wards)

Ordinances going to Council 11-3-21.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Prohaska, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 8:09 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 9City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20293
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c8ffaa76-ca71-4fcb-975d-83eb7b1da23c.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

6:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, November 10, 2021

SPECIAL SESSION - ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED 2022 EXECUTIVE BUDGET

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 6:00 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGB.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSC.

Alderperson Martin arrived at 6:13 p.m. and appeared virtually.  Alderperson Schultz 

also appeared virtually.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake Woodford

Present: 15 - 

Alderperson Joe ProhaskaAbsent: 1 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSD.

All Departments were represented.

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORE.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONF.

The following individuals spoke during Public Participation:

Nancy Scheuerman, 631 E Woodcrest Dr

Kara Sullivan, 500 N Vine St

Jill Swenson, 1501 N Elinor St

John Ptacek, 620 E Parkway Blvd

John O'Boyle, 721 E Water St #205

Rick Krumwiede, 4225 E Appleseed Dr

B Sridhar, 3600 W Shawnee Ave

Carolyn Desrosiers, 2924 Schaefer Cir

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYG.

Page 1City of Appleton



November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1585 Approve the Finance Committee Budget Workshop ("Budget Saturday") 

minutes from October 30, 2021

 

FC Minutes 10-30-21 Budget Workshop.pdfAttachments:

The Minutes were referred back to the Finance Committee by Alderperson Siebers

21-1586 Suspend the Council Rules, to go into the Committee of the Whole to 

take up the Finance Committee Budget Workshop ("Budget Saturday") 

Minutes

 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Firkus, that the Common 

Council convene into the Committee of the Whole acting as the Finance 

Committee. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSH.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

21-1476 Request to approve Community & Economic Development Budget (pgs 

145-158)

 

This Report Action Item was approved

21-1477 Request to approve Housing and Community Development Grants 

Special Revenue Fund Budget (pgs 160-173)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1478 Request to approve Industrial Park Land Fund Budget (pgs 176-178)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20333
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b416e19d-ab15-499e-a577-34dfcecf72c9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20334
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20224
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20225
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20226


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1479 Request to approve Community Development Capital Projects Budget 

(pgs 180-182)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1480 Request to approve TIF Districts Budget (pgs 183-214)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1481 Request to approve Fire Budget (pgs 433-451)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1482 Request to approve Hazardous Materials Type II Special Revenue Fund 

Budget (pgs 454-456)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1483 Request to approve Police Budget (pgs 409-423)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1484 Request to approve Police Grants Special Revenue Fund Budget (pgs 

426-428)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1485 Request to approve Public Safety Capital Projects Fund Budget (pgs 

430-432)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1486 Request to approve Health Budget (pgs 379-390)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1487 Request to approve Health Grants Special Revenue Budget (pgs 

392-407)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20227
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20228
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20229
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20230
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20231
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20232
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20233
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20234
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20235


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1488 Request to approve Legal Services Budget (pgs 103-118)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1489 Request to approve Tuchscherer Disability Fund Budget (pg 119)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1490 Request to approve Water Budget (pgs 473-496)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1491 Request to approve Wastewater Budget (pgs 497-520)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1492 Request to approve Stormwater Budget (pgs 521-536)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1493 Request to approve Parking Budget (pgs 349-362)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1494 Request to approve Public Works Budget (pgs 295-321)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1495 Request to approve Sanitation Special Revenue Fund Budget (pgs 

324-336)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1496 Request to approve Wheel Tax Special Revenue Fund Budget (pgs 

338-340)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1497 Request to approve Subdivision Capital Projects Fund Budget (pgs 

342-344)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 4City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20236
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20237
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20238
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20239
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20240
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20241
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20242
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20243
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20244
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20245


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1498 Request to approve Public Works Capital Projects Fund Budget (pgs 

346-348)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1499 Request to approve Central Equipment Agency Budget (pgs 363-373)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1500 Request to approve CEA Replacement Capital Projects Fund Budget 

(pgs 376-378)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1501 Request to approve Valley Transit Budget (pgs 277-294)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1502 Request to approve Library Budget (pgs 255-272)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1503 Request to approve Library Grants Special Revenue Budget (pgs 

274-276)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1504 Request to approve Facilities and Construction Management Budget 

(pgs 215-224)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1505 Request to approve Facilities Capital Projects Fund Budget (pgs 

226-228)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1506 Request to approve Parks and Recreation Budget (pgs 229-237)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 5City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20246
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20247
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20248
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20249
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20250
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20251
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20252
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20253
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20254


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1507 Request to approve Parks and Recreation Trust Funds Budget (pgs 

239-244)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1508 Request to approve Reid Golf Course Budget (pgs 245-254)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1509 Request to approve Human Resources Budget (pgs 125-134)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1510 Request to approve Risk Management Budget (pgs 135-143)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1511 Request to approve Information Technology Budget (pgs 89-98)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1512 Request to approve Information Technology Capital Projects Funds 

Budget (pgs 100-102)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1513 Request to approve Mayor Budget (pgs 45-54)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1514 Request to approve Council Budget (pgs 55-58)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1515 Request to approve Debt Service Budget (pgs 457-463)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1516 Request to approve General Administration Budget (pgs 75-80)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 6City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20255
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20256
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20257
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20258
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20259
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20260
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20261
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20262
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20263
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20264


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1517 Request to approve Room Tax Special Revenue Fund Budget (pgs 

82-84)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1518 Request to approve Other Post Employment Benefits Budget (pgs 86-88)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1519 Request to approve Finance Budget (pgs 59-68)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-1520 Request to approve ARPA Budget (pgs 69-73)

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS (New)

21-1591 Reduce 2023 Borrowing for Library Project CIP from $13,542,000 

to $11,542,000

Pages 638/582 Facilities Management

(Doran, Alfheim)

 

Alderperson Firkus moved, seconded by Alderperson Doran, that the 

amendment be recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion failed by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Chad Doran

3 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim and 

Alderperson Nate Wolff

11 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 7City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20265
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20266
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20267
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20268
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20339


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1590 Add $500 to Council Training/Conferences

Delete $500 of Mayor Training/Conferences

Page 57 Common Council

Page 49 Mayor

(Fenton)

 

Alderperson Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the  

Item be amended to increase the amount from $500 to $1,000. Roll Call. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim and 

Alderperson Nate Wolff

11 - 

Nay: Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Chad Doran

3 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the Item be 

approved as amended to $1,000. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim and 

Alderperson Nate Wolff

11 - 

Nay: Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Chad Doran

3 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-1589 Add $3,360 to Council Training/Conferences

Delete $3,360 of Council Parking Permits

Page 57 Common Council

(Reed)

 

This Item failed, due to lack of a Motion on the Item.

Page 8City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20338
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20337


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1588 Add $6,300 to Information Technology Dept. for Computer 

Replacements

Delete $6,300 of Council Parking Permits

Page 97 Information Technology

Page 57 Common Council

(Doran)

 

Alderperson Doran moved for approval.  There was no seconder for the Motion, so this 

Item failed.

21-1585 Approve the Finance Committee Budget Workshop ("Budget Saturday") 

minutes from October 30, 2021

 

FC Minutes 10-30-21 Budget Workshop.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Minutes be approved as amended in Committee of the Whole. Roll Call. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Chad Doran

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Joe Martin1 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

RISE AND REPORT

21-1592 Reconvene to Common Council

 

Alderperson Smith moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, to reconvene 

as the Common Council. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 9City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20336
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20333
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b416e19d-ab15-499e-a577-34dfcecf72c9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20340


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-1593 Report of the Committee of the Whole

 

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the 

Report of the Committee of the Whole (Finance Committee) be approved. Roll 

Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-1594 2022 Budget Resolution

 

2022 Budget Resolution.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Doran, that the 2022 

Budget Resolution be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-1595 Reconsideration of the Report of the Committee of the Whole

 

Alderperson Smith moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the Report of 

the Committee of the Whole be reconsidered. Roll Call. Motion failed by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Alex Schultz1 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Michael Smith, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Chad Doran

13 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 10City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20341
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20342
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bac2f2c4-d349-4d49-8568-9b3e19179794.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20343


November 10, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSI.

ADJOURNJ.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Smith, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 7:39 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Michael Smith, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Absent: Alderperson Joe Prohaska1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 11City of Appleton









257 + 350 = 607 (2 week case counts)

607 / 75,000 = .008093 (Appleton population 75,000)

.0006853 x 100,000 = 809.3 (equals burden)

Low less than or equal to 10 per 100,000 people
Moderate greater than 10 but less than 50 per 100,000 people
Moderately High greater than 50 but less than 100 per 100,000 people
High is greater than 100 per 100,000 people
Very High is greater than 350 per 100,000 people
Critically High is greater than 1,000 per 100,000 people



Indicator Definition
Total number of cases per 100,000 
in the last two weeks (

Low

    ) Moderate
Moderately High

High
Very High

Critcally High
Percent change in the last two 
weeks (
   ), p-value from a test against 

Not changing (No 
Call)

Shrinking No Call Growing

Low Low Low Medium
Moderate Medium Medium High

Moderately High Medium High High

High High High High

Very High
Very 
High

Very 
High

Very High

Critically High
Critcally 
High

Critcally 
High

Critcally High

and 

Otherwise

Case status 
indicator(Composite 

of burden and 
trajectory)

Summary concern based on Burden 
and Trajectory classifications

Table 1. Two indicators being based on confirmed cases: Burden and Trajectory. A third indicator maps Burden and 
Trajectory indicators into one composite indicator.

Classes

Burden

1000 < B

                    ≤ 350
350 < B  ≤ 1000

Trajectory

Shrinking   and 

Growing



0

200

400

600

800

000

200
3/

23
/2

02
0

3/
30

/2
02

0
4/

6/
20

20
4/

13
/2

02
0

4/
20

/2
02

0
4/

27
/2

02
0

5/
4/

20
20

5/
11

/2
02

0
5/

18
/2

02
0

5/
25

/2
02

0
6/

1/
20

20
6/

8/
20

20
6/

15
/2

02
0

6/
22

/2
02

0
6/

29
/2

02
0

7/
6/

20
20

7/
13

/2
02

0
7/

20
/2

02
0

7/
27

/2
02

0
8/

3/
20

20
8/

10
/2

02
0

8/
17

/2
02

0
8/

24
/2

02
0

8/
31

/2
02

0
9/

7/
20

20
9/

14
/2

02
0

9/
21

/2
02

0
9/

28
/2

02
0

10
/5

/2
02

0
10

/1
2/

20
20

10
/1

9/
20

20
10

/2
6/

20
20

11
/2

/2
02

0
11

/9
/2

02
0

11
/1

6/
20

20
11

/2
3/

20
20

11
/3

0/
20

20
12

/7
/2

02
0

12
/1

4/
20

20
12

/2
1/

20
20

12
/2

8/
20

20
1/

4/
20

21
1/

11
/2

02
1

1/
18

/2
02

1
1/

25
/2

02
1

2/
1/

20
21

2/
8/

20
21

2/
15

/2
02

1
2/

22
/2

02
1

3/
1/

20
21

3/
8/

20
21

3/
15

/2
02

1
3/

22
/2

02
1

3/
29

/2
02

1
4/

5/
20

21
4/

12
/2

02
1

4/
19

/2
02

1
4/

26
/2

02
1

5/
3/

20
21

5/
10

/2
02

1
5/

17
/2

02
1

5/
24

/2
02

1
5/

31
/2

02
1

6/
7/

20
21

6/
14

/2
02

1
6/

21
/2

02
1

6/
28

/2
02

1
7/

5/
20

21
7/

12
/2

02
1

7/
19

/2
02

1
7/

26
/2

02
1

8/
2/

20
21

8/
9/

20
21

8/
16

/2
02

1
8/

23
/2

02
1

8/
30

/2
02

1
9/

6/
20

21
9/

13
/2

02
1

9/
20

/2
02

1
9/

27
/2

02
1

10
/4

/2
02

1
10

/1
1/

20
21

10
/1

8/
20

21
10

/2
5/

20
21

11
/1

/2
02

1
11

/8
/2

02
1

Two Week Total New COVID-19 Cases in Appleton, 
Rate per 100,000 Population, Risk Level Assessments per WDHS 

Low Moderate Moderately High High Very High Critically High



https://covid-19-appleton.hub.arcgis.com/



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
#11-21 

RE: Proposed Zone Change 
 

A public hearing will be held in the Council Chambers, City Hall, Appleton, Wisconsin, on 
November 17, 2021, at 7:00 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, to consider the following 
proposed zone change: 

 
Rezoning #11-21: A rezoning request has been initiated by the City Plan Commission in the 
matter of amending Chapter Twenty-three (Zoning Ordinance) of the Municipal Code of the City 
of Appleton for the following described real estate. The property was zoned temporary AG 
Agricultural District following annexation. Pursuant to Sections 23-65(d)(1) and 23-65(e) of the 
Municipal Code, the City Plan Commission proposes to rezone the property to the zoning 
classification of P-I Public Institutional District. The P-I District is intended to provide for public 
and institutional uses (public roads/infrastructure) and buildings utilized by the community and 
to provide open space standards where necessary for the protection of adjacent residential 
properties. 
 
Purpose of the Rezoning: To assign a zoning classification following the “Lightning 
Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way) Annexation” and facilitate future construction of a street 
officially mapped as Lightning Drive and an associated stormwater pond. 
 
Legal Description:  
A part of the Fractional Southwest ¼ of Section 6, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, City of 
Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 551,568 Square Feet 12.6622 acres of land 
and being further described as follows:  
Commencing at the South ¼ corner of said Section 6; Thence South 00°15'22" West 41.25 feet 
coincident with the current City of Appleton corporate limits; Thence South 89°44'38" West 
1,312.94 feet coincident with the current City of Appleton corporate limits; Thence North 
00°09'19" West 695.75 feet coincident with the current City of Appleton corporate limits to the 
Westerly boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence North 
00°27'27" East 27.61 feet coincident with said Westerly boundary of Transportation Project Plat 
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02 to a North line thereof; Thence Southeasterly 162.67 feet along the arc of a 
curve to the right having a radius of 230.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 61°16'46" 
East 159.30 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-
4.02;Thence South 79°18'14" East 46.36 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence North 56°36'28" East 28.01 feet coincident with the 
boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence North 58°51'13" East 
127.60 feet; Thence North 56°36'28" East 300.63 feet; Thence Northeasterly 602.86 feet along 
the arc of curve to the left having a radius of 965.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 
38°42'38" East 593.11 feet; Thence North 89°51'14" West 156.83 feet to the Southeast corner of 
Outlot 10 of Apple Ridge 2; Thence North 13°52'54" East 307.18 feet coincident with the East 
line of Outlot 10 of Apple Ridge 2; Thence North 03°30'35" West 188.39 feet coincident with 
the East line of Outlot 10 of Apple Ridge 2 to the Southerly line of Baldeagle Drive; Thence 
North 76°55'16" East 145.11 feet; Thence Northwesterly 201.39 feet along the arc of curve to the 
left having a radius of 965.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 16°31'22" West 201.02 



feet; Thence Northerly 408.87 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
1,035.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 11°11'03" West 406.21 feet; Thence North 
00°07'58" East 192.71 feet to the North line of the Fractional SW ¼ of said Section 6;  Thence 
South 89°27'19" East 70.00 feet coincident with the North line of the Fractional SW ¼ of said 
Section 6; Thence South 00°07'58" West 192.20 feet; Thence Southerly 381.21 feet along the arc 
of curve to the left having a radius of 965.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 11°11'03" 
East 378.74 feet; Thence Southerly 1,429.04 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a 
radius of 1,035.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 17°03'12" West 1,318.20 feet; Thence 
South 56°36'28" West 300.63 feet; Thence South 54°21'43" West 127.60 feet; Thence South 
56°36'28" West 85.86 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-
0G-17-4.02; Thence Southwesterly 41.28 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius 
of 310.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 52°49'13" West 41.25 feet coincident with the 
boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence Southeasterly 241.12 feet 
along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 238.50 feet and the chord of which bears 
South 61°43'30" East 230.98 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat 
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence South 00°28'26" West 266.19 feet coincident with the boundary 
of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence North 89°44'38" East 214.97 feet 
coincident with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; Thence South 
00°28'26" West 35.00 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-
0G-17-4.02; Thence North 89°44'38" East 751.25 feet coincident with the boundary of 
Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-17-4.02 to the East line of the Fractional SW ¼ of said 
Section 6;  Thence South 00°27'14" West 61.25 feet coincident with the East line of the 
Fractional SW ¼ of said Section 6 to the point of beginning. 
 
October 28, 2021 
 
RUN: November 2, 2021    KAMI LYNCH 
 November 9, 2021    City Clerk 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
#12-21 

RE: Proposed Zone Change 
 

A public hearing will be held in the Council Chambers, City Hall, Appleton, Wisconsin, on 
November 17, 2021, at 7:00 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, to consider the following 
proposed zone change: 

 
Rezoning #12-21: A rezoning request has been initiated by the City Plan Commission, in the 
matter of amending Chapter Twenty-three (Zoning Ordinance) of the Municipal Code of the City 
of Appleton for the following described real estate, which was zoned temporary AG Agricultural 
District following annexation. Pursuant to Sections 23-65(d)(1) and 23-65(e) of the Municipal 
Code, the City Plan Commission proposes to rezone the property to a zoning classification of R-
1B Single-Family District. The R-1B district is intended to provide for and maintain residential 
areas characterized predominately by single-family detached dwellings on larger sized lots while 
protecting residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-residential land 
uses. 
 
Purpose of the Rezoning: To assign a zoning classification following the “Ziegler Mackville 
Road & EE Annexation” and allow the property to continue as single-family residential. 
 
Legal Description:  
A part of the Northeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 36, Township 22 North, Range 17 East, 
City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 62,759 Square Feet 1.4407 acres of 
land and being further described as follows: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Section 36; 
Thence South 00°06'21" West 117.18 feet coincident with the East line of the Northeast ¼ of 
said Section 36 to the point of beginning; 
Thence continue South 00°06'21" West 222.82 feet coincident with the East line of the Northeast 
¼ of said Section 36 to the South line of lands described in Warranty Deed Document 
No.679131 of the Outagamie County Register of Deeds Office; 
Thence North 89°51'03" West 225.00 feet coincident with the South line of lands described in 
Warranty Deed Document No.679131 of the Outagamie County Register of Deeds Office; 
Thence North 00°06'21" East 307.00 feet coincident with the West line of lands described in 
Warranty Deed Document No.679131 and then the West line of lands described in Warranty 
Deed Document No.544576 to the South line of Mackville Road. 
Thence South 89°51'03" East 107.95 feet coincident with the South line of Mackville Road to a 
highway vision corner; 
Thence South 44°49'45" East 119.00 feet coincident with said highway vision corner to the West 
line of Ballard Road (aka C.T.H. “EE”); 
Thence South 89°51'03" East 33.00 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
October 28, 2021 
 
RUN: November 2, 2021    KAMI LYNCH 
 November 9, 2021    City Clerk 



CITY OF APPLETON 
RESOLUTION 

Resolution declaring polling places in the City of Appleton  
pursuant to Section 5.25 Wisconsin Statutes 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton underwent redistricting as a result of the 2020 census 
and; 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton will continue to maintain 15 Aldermanic Districts and; 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Appleton to reassign polling places as 
a result of redistricting to best accommodate voters and Election Day operations; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Appleton Polling Places, 
effective January 1, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Aldermanic District 1 – (Wards 1 & 2) 
First United Methodist Church, 325 E Franklin Street 

Aldermanic District 2 – (Wards 3, 4 & 5) 
Emmanuel United Methodist Church, 740 E College Avenue 

Aldermanic District 3 – (Wards 7, 8 & 9) 
Cross Walk Church, 2020 E John Street 

Aldermanic District 4 – (Wards 10, 11 & 12) 
Memorial Presbyterian Church, 803 E College Avenue 

Aldermanic District 5 – (Wards 13, 14, 15 &16) 
Prince of Peace Lutheran Church, 2330 E Calumet Street 

Aldermanic District 6 – (Wards 17, 18 & 19) 
Scheig Center, Memorial Park – 1313 E Witzke Boulevard 

Aldermanic District 7 – (Wards 20, 21 & 22) 
First English Lutheran Church, 6331 N Ballard Road 

Aldermanic District 8 – (Wards 23, 24 & 25) 
First Congressional United Church of Christ, 724 E South River Street 

Aldermanic District 9 – (Wards 26 & 27) 
Saint Bernard Catholic Church, 1617 W Pine Street 

Aldermanic District 10 – (Wards 28, 29 & 30) 
Saint Matthew Evangelical Lutheran Church, 129 S Mason Street 



Aldermanic District 11 – (Wards 31, 32, 33 & 34) 
Saint Joseph Parish, 404 W Lawrence Street 

Aldermanic District 12 – (Wards 35, 36 & 37) 
Saint John United Church of Christ, 1130 W Marquette Street 

Aldermanic District 13 – (Wards 38, 39, 40 & 41) 
Celebration Ministry Center, 3100 E Evergreen Drive 

Aldermanic District 14 – (Wards 42 & 43) 
Faith Ministry Center, 601 E Glendale Avenue 

Aldermanic District 15 – Wards 44, 45, 46 & 47) 
Hope Lutheran Brethren Church, 415 E Hoover Avenue 

 

 

Adopted:      

Published:           

 

             
       Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor 

 

             
       Kami Lynch, City Clerk 



















 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  City of Appleton 

 

Applicant/Petitioner:  City of Appleton Plan Commission 

 

Parcel Numbers/Location:  Part of parcels 101157000 and 101158200, included in the “Lightning 

Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way)  Annexation”, located in the vicinity of North Lightning Drive and East 

Edgewood Drive intersection and north thereof. 

Petitioner’s Request:  To assign a zoning classification to newly annexed property, pursuant to Section 

23-65(e) of the Municipal Code, from temporary AG Agricultural District to P-I Public Institutional 

District.  The request is being made to facilitate future construction of a street officially mapped as 

Lightning Drive with associated utilities and a stormwater pond.  

 

BACKGROUND  ___________________________________________________  _ 

On October 13, 2021, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Lightning Drive/C.T.H. JJ 

(Right-of-Way) Annexation.  During review of the annexation, the Plan Commission initiated the 

rezoning for the subject property from temporary AG Agricultural District to the zoning classification of 

P-I Public Institutional District. 

 

Officially mapped Lightning Drive from East Edgewood Drive to Broadway Drive went into effect on 

October 23, 2001.  

 

FUTURE ACTIONS___________________________________________________________________ 

 

On November 3, 2021, the Common Council will take action on the Lightning Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-

Way) Annexation Ordinance.  It is anticipated the property will be officially annexed to the City on 

November 9, 2021 at 12:01 a.m.   

 

Rezoning #11-21 is on track to go to the November 17, 2021 Common Council meeting for action. 

 

 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Hearing Meeting Date:  October 27, 2021 

 

Common Council Public Hearing Meeting Date:  November 17, 2021  

 

Item:  Rezoning #11-21 – Lightning Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) 

Annexation 

 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community and 

Economic 

Development 



Rezoning #11-21 - Lightning Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 2 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Existing Site Conditions:  The subject parcel is approximately 12.6622 acres in size.  The subject 

property is developed with public infrastructure (stormwater pond, utilities, and roads).  Also, a portion of 

the subject property is undeveloped agricultural land. 

Street Classification:  Lightning Drive is classified as a collector street on the City’s Arterial/Collector 

Plan.     

 

Surrounding Zoning Classification and Land Uses: 

 

North:  Town of Grand Chute.  AGD – General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the north is 

currently agricultural land. 

 

South:  City of Appleton.  P-I Public Institutional District, the adjacent land use to the south is currently 

developed as single-family residential, agricultural buildings, and undeveloped land. 

 

West:    City of Appleton. C-2 General Commercial District and R-1B Single-family District, the adjacent 

land use to the west is currently undeveloped commercial and single-family residential land. 

  

Town of Grand Chute.  AGD – General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the west is 

currently agricultural land. 

 

East:    Town of Grand Chute.  AGD – General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the east is 

currently agricultural land. 

 

Proposed Zoning Classification:  The purpose of the P-I Public Institutional District is to provide for 

public and institutional uses (roads/utilities) and buildings utilized by the community and to provide open 

space standards where necessary for the protection of adjacent residential properties.  Per Section 23-

100(h) of the Municipal Code, the development standards for the P-I District are listed below: 

 

1) Minimum lot area:  None. 

2) Maximum lot coverage:  70%. 

3) Minimum lot width:  None. 

4) Minimum front yard:  20 feet plus an additional one foot for each two feet that the building or 

structure exceeds 35 feet in height. 

5) Minimum rear yard:  20 feet plus an additional one foot for each two feet that the building or 

structure exceeds 35 feet in height. 

6) Minimum side yard:  20 feet plus an additional one foot for each two feet that the building or 

structure exceeds 35 feet in height. 

7) Maximum building height:  60 feet. 

 

 



Rezoning #11-21 - Lightning Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  Per Section 23-65(e) of the Municipal Code, a temporary zoning 

classification is assigned to newly annexed territory, with rezoning taking place following the annexation 

process.  All territory annexed to the City is assigned a zoning classification as recommended by Plan 

Commission.  The Plan Commission shall consider the following criteria in selection of an appropriate 

zoning district for the annexed land:  

 

- The existing land uses within the territory to be annexed; 

- The surrounding land uses that exist on adjacent properties regardless of municipal boundary 

lines; 

- The Comprehensive Plan of the City. 

 

In this case, the Plan Commission initiated a rezoning for the subject property from temporary AG 

Agricultural District to the zoning classification of P-I Public Institutional District.  A rezoning initiated 

directly by Plan Commission is processed in accordance with Section 23-65(d), Zoning Map 

Amendments, which includes review and action by the Common Council.  If approved, any future 

development would need to conform to the P-I District zoning regulations listed above and other sections 

of the Zoning Ordinance.   

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton 2010-2030 Comprehensive Plan Map 

identifies the subject area as Officially Mapped Lightning Drive, Ponds/Water, Public Institutional, 

One/Two Family Residential and Agricultural/Private Open Space. The proposed rezoning is consistent 

with the following goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 4 – Transportation 

Appleton will support a comprehensive transportation network that provides viable options for 

pedestrian, bicycle, highway, rail, and air transportation, both locally and within the region. 

 

OBJECTIVE 6.1 Transportation: 

Plan for the safe and efficient movement of vehicles on local and regional roads. 

 

OBJECTIVE 6.8 Transportation: 

Implement transportation improvements which also support the City’s desired land use, housing and 

neighborhood goals, objectives, and policies. 

 

OBJECTIVE 7.5 Utilities and Community Facilities: 

Implement effective stormwater management practices. 

 

 

 

 



Rezoning #11-21 - Lightning Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 4 

 

 

Standards for Zoning Map Amendments:  Per Section 23-65(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, all 

recommendations for Official Zoning Map amendments shall be consistent with the adopted plans, goals, 

and policies of the City and with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance.  Related excerpts are listed below. 

 

a. Prior to making a recommendation on a proposed rezoning, the Plan Commission shall make a 

finding to determine if the following conditions exist.  No rezoning of land shall be approved prior 

to finding at least one of the following: 

 

1. The request for a zone change is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 

Appleton.  The rezoning request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 

goals and objectives stated above and the Future Land Use Map, which identifies this area for 

officially mapped Lightning Drive, other roads, and a stormwater pond. 

 

2. A study submitted by the applicant that indicates that there has been an increase in the demand 

for land in the requested zoning district, and as a result, the supply of land within the City 

mapped as such on the Official Zoning Map is inadequate to meet the demands for such 

development. 

 

3. Proposed amendments cannot be accommodated by sites already zoned in the City due to lack 

of transportation, utilities or other development constraints, or the market to be served by the 

proposed use cannot be effectively served by the location of the existing zoning district(s). 

 

4. There is an error in the code text or zoning map as enacted. 

 

b. In addition to the findings required to be made by subsection (a), findings shall be made by the 

Plan Commission on each of the following matters based on the evidence presented: 

 

1. The adequacy of public facilities such as transportation, utilities and other required public 

services to serve the proposed site.  City infrastructure is already installed along the initial 

segment of Lightning Drive.  Stormwater pond, sewer, and water infrastructure will be 

included with the future construction of Lightning Drive. 

 

2. The effect of the proposed rezoning on surrounding uses.  Officially mapped Lightning Drive 

from East Edgewood Drive to Broadway Drive went into effect on October 23, 2001.  The 

recent annexation will allow for the future construction of Lightning Drive and associated 

stormwater pond, sewer, and water infrastructure within the annexation area.  Therefore, the 

proposed rezoning request is unlikely to create adverse impacts in the surrounding 

neighborhood. 

 

Review Criteria:  Based upon the above analysis, it would appear the criteria established by Section 23-

65(d)(3) Zoning Amendments has been satisfied. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the August 31, 2021 TRG Agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 



Rezoning #11-21 - Lightning Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 5 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based upon the standards for zoning map amendments as required by Section 23-

65(d)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, that Rezoning Application #11-21 to rezone the Lightning 

Drive/C.T.H. “JJ” (Right-of-Way) Annexation area from temporary AG Agricultural District to P-I Public 

Institutional District as shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED. 



1-7250-3

1-8301-1

1-8301-5
1-8301-6

1-8308-24

1-8308-25

1-8308-76

1-8308-751-8308-74

1-8308-67

1-8308-66

1-83
08-65

1-8
308-64

1-8
308

-63

1-8308-62

1-8308-61

1-8308-60

1-8308-59

1-8308-58

1-8308-57

1-8308-44

1-8308-42

1-8308-41

1-8308-45

1-8308-46

1-8
30

8-7
7

1-8
30

8-7
8

1-8308-43

1-8
30

8-4
9

1-8
30

8-5
0

1-8
30

8-5
1

1-8
30

8-5
2

1-8
30

8-5
3

1-8
30

8-5
4

1-8
30

8-5
5

1-8
30

8-5
6

1-8
308

-48

1-8308-81

1-8308-82

1-8308-83

1-8308-84

1-8308-85

1-8309-94

1-8309-17

1-8309-16

1-8309-25

1-8309-31

1-8309-18

1-8309-19

1-8309-15

1-8309-20

1-8309-5

1-8309-24

1-8309-33

1-8309-21

1-8309-92

1-8309-22

1-8309-32

1-8309-14

1-8309-30

1-8309-21-8309

1-8309-3

1-8309-91

1-8309-23

1-8309-4

1-8309-40

1-8309-55

1-8309-9

1-8309-26

1-8309-12

1-8309-27

1-8309-28

1-8309-29

1-8309-45

1-8309-13

1-8309-37

1-8309-38

1-8309-51

1-8309-43
1-8309-44

1-8309-75

1-8309-34

1-8309-10

1-8309-56

1-8309-46

1-8309-47

1-8309-61

1-8309-74

1-8309-48

1-8309-62

1-8309-60

1-8309-11

1-8309-49

1-8309-1

1-8309-59

1-8309-7
1-8309-6

1-8309-58

1-8309-57

1-8309-8

1-8309-72

1-8309-50

1-8309-41

1-8309-63

1-8309-52

1-8309-36

1-8309-39

1-8309-84

1-8309-54

1-8309-83

1-8309-35

1-8309-80

1-8309-79

1-8309-42

1-8309-85

1-8309-86

1-8309-82

1-8309-64

1-8309-89

1-8309-76

1-8309-81

1-8309-87

1-8309-88

1-8309-77

1-8309-73

1-8309-53

1-8309-90

1-8309-78

1-7611-54

1-7611-55

1-7611-56

1-7611-57

1-7611-58

1-7611-73

1-7611-74

1-7611-72

E EDGEWOOD DRE EDGEWOOD DR

N KESTREL CIR

E HARRIER LA

N OSPREY DR

N OSPREY DR

E BALDEAGLE DR

E BALDEAGLE DR

E BALDEAGLE DR

E BALDEAGLE DR

N 
LIG

HT
NI

NG
 D

R

E EDGEWOOD DR

R-1B

P-I

AG

C-2

R-1B

E EDGEWOOD DR

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

N 
ME

AD
E 

ST

CTY TK E

N 
FR

EN
CH

 R
D

E BROADWAY DRME
AD

E 
ST

N 
LIG

HT
NI

NG
 D

R

FR
EN

CH
 R

D

CH
ER

RY
VA

LE
 AV

N 
KU

RE
Y D

R Lightning Drive & C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way)
Annexation   Temporary AG Agricultural to 

P-I Public Institutional District
Rezoning

Subject Area

Subject Area

City Limits

Cit
y L

im
its

±0 200 400100 Feet

City Limits

City Plan Commission
10-27-2021

City Limits

City Limits



E B
AL

DE
AG

LE
 D

R

E EDGEWOOD DR

N 
KE

ST
RE

L C
IR

E HARRIER LA

N OSPREY DR

N OSPREY DR
Lightning Drive & C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way)
Annexation   Temporary AG Agricultural to 

P-I Public Institutional District
Aerial Map

Subject Area

City Limits

Cit
y L

im
its

City Limits

City Plan Commission
10-27-2021

City Limits

City Limits

LIG
HT

NI
NG

 D
R

OFFICIALLY MAPPED PROVIDENCE AVE



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  Philip C. Ziegler 

 

Applicant/Petitioner:  City of Appleton Plan Commission  

 

Address/Parcel Number:  N2883 County Road EE / 040097800 - Town of Center.  The proposed City 

parcel number is #31-1-9315-00. 

Petitioner’s Request:  To assign a zoning classification to newly annexed property, pursuant to Section 

23-65(e) of the Zoning Ordinance and Annexation Petition, from temporary AG Agricultural District to 

R-1B Single-family District. 

 

BACKGROUND  ___________________________________________________  _ 

On October 13, 2021, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Ziegler Mackville Road & EE 

Annexation.  During review of the annexation, the Plan Commission initiated the rezoning for the subject 

property from temporary AG Agricultural District to the zoning classification of R-1B Single-family 

District. 

 

FUTURE ACTIONS___________________________________________________________________ 

 

On November 3, 2021, the Common Council will take action on the Ziegler Mackville Road & EE 

Annexation Ordinance.  It is anticipated the property will be officially annexed to the City on November 

9, 2021 at 12:01 a.m.   

 

Rezoning #12-21 is on track to go to the November 17, 2021 Common Council meeting for action. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS ___________________________________________________________________ 

Existing Conditions:  The subject area is approximately 1.4407 acres in size.  Currently, the subject 

property is developed with a single-family dwelling.  

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Hearing Meeting:  October 27, 2021 

 

Common Council Public Hearing Meeting:  November 17, 2021 

 

Item:  Rezoning #12-21 - Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation 

 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community 

and Economic  

Development 



Rezoning #12-21 - Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

Proposed Zoning Classification:  The purpose of the R-1B Single-family District is to provide for and 

maintain residential areas characterized predominately by single-family, detached dwellings on medium 

sized lots while protecting residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-residential 

uses.  Per Section 23-93(g) of the Municipal Code, the development standards for the R-1B District are 

listed below: 

 

1) Minimum lot area:  6,000 square feet. 

2) Maximum lot coverage:  50%. 

3) Minimum lot width:  50 feet. 

4) Minimum front yard:  20 feet (25 feet on arterial street). 

5) Minimum rear yard:  25 feet. 

6) Minimum side yard:  6 feet. 

7) Maximum building height:  35 feet. 

 

Surrounding Zoning Classification and Land Uses: 

 

North:  Town of Center.  General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the north is currently 

agricultural land. 

 

South:  Town of Center. General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the south is currently 

developed as single-family residential. 

 

West:    Town of Center. General Agricultural District, the adjacent land use to the west is currently 

developed as single-family residential. 

 

East:   City of Appleton. R-1B Single-family District, the adjacent land use to the east is currently 

undeveloped but subdivided for single-family residential.  

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton 2010-2030 Comprehensive Plan Map 

identifies the subject area as future One/Two–Family residential.  The proposed rezoning is consistent 

with the following goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.  

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

 

 



Rezoning #12-21 - Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 

 

Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the community and 

allows residents to age in place. 

Policy 5.3.3  Plan for a supply of developable land suitable for residential development. 

 

OBJECTIVE 10.1 Land Use:  

Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development of various land uses. 

 

Standards for Zoning Map Amendments:  Per Section 23-65(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, all 

recommendations for Official Zoning Map amendments shall be consistent with the adopted plans, goals, 

and policies of the City and with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance.  Related excerpts are listed below. 

 

a. Prior to making a recommendation on a proposed rezoning, the Plan Commission shall make a 

finding to determine if the following conditions exist.  No rezoning of land shall be approved prior 

to finding at least one of the following: 

 

1. The request for a zone change is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 

Appleton.  The rezoning request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 

goals and objectives stated above and the Future Land Use Map, which identifies this site as 

future one and two-family residential land use. 

 

2. A study submitted by the applicant that indicates that there has been an increase in the demand 

for land in the requested zoning district, and as a result, the supply of land within the City 

mapped as such on the Official Zoning Map is inadequate to meet the demands for such 

development. 

 

3. Proposed amendments cannot be accommodated by sites already zoned in the City due to lack 

of transportation, utilities or other development constraints, or the market to be served by the 

proposed use cannot be effectively served by the location of the existing zoning district(s). 

 

4. There is an error in the code text or zoning map as enacted. 

 

b. In addition to the findings required to be made by subsection (a), findings shall be made by the 

Plan Commission on each of the following matters based on the evidence presented: 

 

1. The adequacy of public facilities such as transportation, utilities and other required public 

services to serve the proposed site.  It was determined during the annexation process for the 

Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation that the City can provide the needed municipal 

services to serve the subject site. 

 



Rezoning #12-21 - Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation 

October 27, 2021 

Page 4 

 

 

2. The effect of the proposed rezoning on surrounding uses.  Single-family residential uses are 

already established adjacent to the subject site.  Therefore, the proposed rezoning request is 

unlikely to create adverse impacts in the surrounding uses. 

 

Review Criteria:  Based upon the above analysis, it would appear the criteria established by Section 23-

65(d)(3) Zoning Amendments has been satisfied. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the September 21, 2021 TRG Agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based upon the standards for zoning map amendments as required by Section 23-

65(d)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, that Rezoning Application #12-21 to rezone the Ziegler Mackville 

Road & EE Annexation area from temporary AG Agricultural District to R-1B Single-family District as 

shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED. 



1-9203-30

1-9203-31

1-9310-2

1-8303-20

1-9203-32

1-9203-33

1-9203-34

1-9203-35

1-9203-36

1-9203-37

1-9203-38

1-9203-96

74
64

74
70

74
63

7477

7483

74
89

74
95

7476

7469

75
00

1-9315

0979-2
1-9203-35

1-9203-31

1-9203-32 1-9203-36

09
77

-2

1-9203-96

0977-1

1-9310-2

0977-6

0977-7

0977

1-9203-381-9203-30

0977-5

0977-4

1-8303-20
0979-1

1-9203-33

1-9203-34

0979

0977-8

1-9203-37

0978

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

MACKVILLE RD

ZIE
GL

ER
 C

T

E MACKVILLE RD

AG

R-1B

AG

NC

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

MACKVILLE RD

E WERNER RD

Rezoning
Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation

Temporary AG Agricultural
to R-1B Single-family District

Subject Area

Subject
Area

City Plan Commission
10-27-2021 0 100 20050 Feet

CITY LIMITS

CI
TY

 LI
MI

TS



1-9203-34

09
77

-2

0977-4

0978

0979

N 
BA

LL
AR

D 
RD

MACKVILLE RD E MACKVILLE RD

Rezoning
Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation

Temporary AG Agricultural
to R-1B Single-family District

Aerial Map

Subject Area

CI
TY

 LI
MI

TS

0 100 20050 FeetCity Plan Commission
10-27-2021



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  Greene Development Appleton, Jim Greene 

 

Applicant:  Robert E. Lee & Associates, Troy Hewitt 

 

Address/Parcel #:  Generally located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Interstate Highway 41 

and Wisconsin Avenue (S.T.H. 96) in the Town of Grand Chute – Tax Id #s 101091300 and 101091303. 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The applicant is proposing to subdivide property under Town’s CR – Regional 

Commercial District zoning district for commercial development.  The platted area is 19.379 acres, which 

will be divided into six (6) lots. 

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

The subject area is within the City’s extraterritorial plat approval jurisdiction, which includes the 

unincorporated area within three miles of the City or where extraterritorial jurisdictions overlap; the 

overlapping area is divided by a line whose points are equidistant from the boundaries of each 

municipality.  This plat is located with the three-mile extraterritorial plat approval jurisdiction limit.  

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Purpose of Extraterritorial Plat Approval:  The purpose of extraterritorial plat approval jurisdiction is 

to help the City influence the development pattern of areas outside the City boundaries that may be 

annexed to the City in the future.  The current Intermunicipal Boundary Agreement with the Town of 

Grand Chute indicates the subject site is located outside of the City’s annexation area. 

 

Existing Conditions:  The subject site is developed with WG&R Furniture (Lot 5) and REI Co-op (Lot 

1).  No buildings exist on proposed Lots 2, 3, 4 and 6.  Access to the development will be obtained from 

Westhill Boulevard.  

 

Surrounding Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the Town of Grand Chute.  

The nearby uses are generally commercial in nature.   

 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community & Economic Development staff has reviewed the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 and determined this proposed subdivision is outside the City of 

Appleton’s growth area.  

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  November 10, 2021 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  November 17, 2021 

              
Item:  Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat – Center Valley at 3800 – Town 

of Grand Chute 

 

Case Manager:  Don Harp 

Community 

and Economic 

Development 

 



 

 

Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat – Center Valley at 3800 – Town of Grand Chute  

November 10, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

Review Criteria:  Community & Economic Development staff has reviewed the Extraterritorial 

Preliminary Plat in accordance with the City of Appleton Zoning Ordinance requirements for commercial 

developments.  The lot sizes and lot widths for the lots in this Town of Grand Chute subdivision exceed 

minimum City of Appleton Zoning Ordinance requirements for commercial developments. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item was included on the October 19, 2021 Technical 

Review Group agenda.  No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Based on the above, staff recommends that the Center Valley at 3800 Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat, 

located in the Town of Grand Chute, as shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED. 



091303

0883

1201-2

088201

1187-2

0914

0909

40
01

0873

1182

1198

0906-4

1391

3278

1186-7

3182

088203

40
04 0910-2

120303

1204

1183

1197

0887

0905

1188

0884-2

12
03

10

1200

0906-5

3274

1186-1

0906-3

0993

118606

0885

1201

0884

1186-5

091302
0906-2

1195-1

08
86

-1

3207

0872

11
95

-2

0909-3

1208

1392

088206

3279

1186-8

0913

0884-3

090901

120309

120305

0912

1181-1

40
02

1183-1

090302

1190120302

1185-1

3272

0887-5

090301

118611

088703

1205

0910

1203

119611991186 

1186-3

091001

1203

088205

1181

090904

1187-1

3276

1187

1390

1186-9120308

32
80

0886

120304

091301

1184

40
03 090906

0911 0909-2

3205

3281

090501

1186-4

120301

0906

09
10

-3

1195

087704

0903

110101

3273

1186-2

1201-3

3181

WISCONSIN AVENUE

HIGHVIEW  DRIVE

WISCONSIN AVENUE

WHEELER ROAD
BL

UE
MO

UN
D 

  D
RI

VE

CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILROAD

CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILROAD

CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILROAD

IH
 41

CO
UN

TY
 R

D 
 AA

WE
ST

FIE
LD

 D
RI

VE

CO
LO

RA
DO

AV
EN

UE

CASALOMA

DR
IVE

FE
DE

RA
TE

D 
DR

IV
E

CO
LO

RA
DO

AV
EN

UE

BREWSTER STREET

IH
 41

BREWSTER STREET

IH
 41

HY
 41

HY 15

W COLLEGE AVCT
Y T

K C
B

W CAPITOL DR

N 
LY

NN
DA

LE
 D

R
W SPENCER ST

N 
MA

YF
LO

WE
R 

DR

N 
CA

SA
LO

MA
 D

R

W NORTHLAND AV

N 
PE

RK
IN

S 
ST

N 
MA

SO
N 

ST

N 
RI

CH
MO

ND
 ST

S N
IC

OL
ET

 R
D N 
BL

UE
MO

UN
D 

DR

N 
LIN

WO
OD

 AV

N 
WE

ST
HI

LL
 BL

VD

N 
RI

CH
MO

ND
 ST

HY
 41

W SPENCER ST

Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat
Center Valley At 3800
Town of Grand Chute

Vicinity Map 

Subject Area

Subject Area

City Plan Commission
11-10-2021 ±0 200 400100 Feet

Subject Area



HW
Y 4

1

W WISCONSIN AV

HWY 41  ON RAMP

WH
EE

LE
R 

RD

N WESTHILL BLVD

RAMP W WISCONSIN AV

HW
Y 4

1
Extraterritorial Preliminary Plat

Center Valley At 3800
Town of Grand Chute

Aerial Map

0 400200
Feet ±City Plan Commission

11-10-2021

Subject AreaSubject Area



S
E

 
1

/
4

 
-
 
S

E
 
1

/
4

Wisconsin Avenue   -   STH '96'

C

a

n

a

d

i

a

n

 
N

a

t

i

o

n

a

l

 
R

a

i

l

r

o

a

d

I
n

t
e

r
s
t
a

t
e

 
H

i
g

h
w

a
y

 
'
4

1
'

7
5

'

1
0

0
'

1
0

0
'

6
0

'

5
0

'

R
i
g

h
t
 
o

f
 
W

a
y

 
V

a
r
i
e

s

5

0

'

5

0

'

S
W

 
1

/
4

 
-
 
S

E
 
1

/
4

(N88°12'31"E)

(
N

0
4

°
0

6
'
5

9
"
W

 
 
9

7
0

.
2

1
'
)

(
N

0
0

°
4

6
'
3

1
"
E

)

(
N

0
2

°
4

1
'
5

2
"
E

)

(
3

1
3

.
2

3
'
)

40' 40'

CSM #270

Lot 1 & Lot 2

Outlot 1

CSM #1192

Westhill East

Unplatted Lands

Lands

5
5

'

5
5

'

RW Varies

100 Year Floodplain FIRM

Map Number 55087C0314D

Effective Date July 22, 2010

Ordinary Highwater Mark as delineated

by Steve Swanson, Outagamie County

Deputy Zoning Administrator

W

e
s
t
h

i
l
l

B

o

u

l
e

v
a

r
d

M

u

d

 
C

r
e

e
k

Lot 1

CSM #7604

Existing Building

Lot 2

CSM #7604

S

4

5

°

1

2

'

4

2

"

E

 
 
 
 
8

5

5

.

4

5

'

5

7

6

.

6

7

'

2

7

8

.

7

8

'

3
1

2
.
5

0
'

N
0

2
°
0

3
'
1

0
"
E

3

5

6

.
8

0

'

N

7

2

°
3

3

'
5

4

"
E

1

3

5

.
7

4

'

S
7

2

°
3

3

'
5

4

"
W

  
  
2

3

7

.
9

3

'

8

0

.
0

0

'

N

1

7

°
2

6

'
0

6

"
W

8

4

.
9

0

'

S
7

2

°
3

3

'
5

4

"
W

8

0

.
0

0

'

S
1

7

°
2

6

'
0

6

"
E

2

1

8

.
1

7

'

S
7

2

°
3

3

'
5

4

"
W

L5

1

5

0

.

5

2

'

S

4

1

°

0

0

'

0

0

"

W

C
1

L
1

S
7

2

°
3

5

'
5

7

"
W

  
  
 1

5

3

.
7

5

'

4

2

4

.
8

3

'

N

1

7

°
2

4

'
0

3

"
W

7

6

.

5

5

'

N

4

7

°

1

6

'

3

8

"

W

 
 
 
 
1

5

3

.

1

0

'

37.2
8'

2

0

1

.

8

5

'

S

4

0

°

2

0

'

3

5

"

W

411.10'

8
3

.
9

2
'

S
0

1
°
3

0
'
1

0
"
E

9

4

.

3

1

'

S

3

4

°

5

8

'
1

8

"

E

6

2

.
5

8

'

S

3

3

°

2

8

'
2

6

"

E

C
2

141.18'

N88°29'50"E

L
2

404.50'

2219.61'

N88°29'50"E  2624.11'

N

4

7

°

1

6

'

3

8

"

W

1

0

7

.

5

3

'

S
0

4
°
4

7
'
5

6
"
E

 
 
 
 
1

2
7

.
4

4
'

370.06'

124.2
2'

1

0

2

.
1

9

'

1

0

0

.
6

3

'

M

u
d

 
C

r
e

e
k

Unplatted Lands

Unplatted Lands

W
e

s
t
h

i
l
l

B
o

u
l
e

v
a

r
d

1
0

0
'

7
5

'

1
0

0
'

Unplatted Lands

Unplatted Lands

Unplatted Lands

5

0

'

5

0

'

Lot 1

CSM #7604

Lot 3

CSM #7604

5

347,948 Square Feet

7.99 Acres

1

128,230 Square Feet

2.94 Acres

2

99,948 Square Feet

2.29 Acres

6

103,661 Square Feet

2.38 Acres

3

92,801 Square Feet

2.13 Acres

4

71,543 Square Feet

1.64 Acres

3
3

0
.
7

4
'

S
0

4
°
4

9
'
4

1
"
E

S85°10'1
9"W

    
356.1

1'

Existing Storm Water Pond

75' Setback off of ordinary

highwater mark

Wetlands as shown on

CSM #7604 (typical)

Existing Building

168.1
8'

S85°10'1
9"W

   2
05.4

6'

2
5

4
.
7

2
'

N
0

0
°
0

7
'
0

3
"
E

158.19'

S89°07'36"E

7

8

.

5

2

'

N

3

7

°

3

9

'
2

1

"

E

1
2

0
.
7

1
'

N
0

3
°
0

3
'
0

1
"
W

218.8
6'

N85°10'1
9"E

257.0
1'

N85°10'1
9"E

NW 1/4 - SE 1/4

SW 1/4 - SE 1/4

Existing Building

L
4

L
3

N88°29'50"E    781.16'

50' Highway Setback

5
0

'
 
H

i
g

h
w

a
y

 
S

e
t
b

a
c
k

L
6

4

2

3

.

5

3

'

S

4

5

°

1

2

'

4

2

"

E

(

S

4

4

°

3

0

'

1

1

"

E

 
)

(

S

4

4

°

3

0

'

1

1

"

E

 
)

8
9

.
3

6
'

3
8

.
0

8
'

231.8
9'

N
0

4
°
4

7
'
5

6
"
W

4
2

5
.
9

0
'

S

4

5

°

1

2

'

4

2

"

E

4

7

8

.

8

4

'

S
0

4
°
4

7
'
5

6
"
E

 
 
 
 
4

1
6

.
5

6
'

E
x
i
s
t
i
n

g
 
S

t
o

r
m

 
W

a
t
e

r
 
P

o
n

d

Existing asphalt parking

Existing asphalt parking

Existing asphalt parking

Parking stall (typical)

280.86'

130.24'

N

6

1

°

3

6

'
1

7

"

E

5

7

.
6

1

'

L

7

L
8

N

1
5

°
4

0
'
2

1
"
W

1
5

9
.
0

1
'

N

1
7

°
2

4
'
3

0
"
W

4
0

9
.
1

3
'

L
9

1
3

.
9

8
'

8
8

.
2

1
'

5
6

.
8

5
'

2
3

.
1

5
'

Distribution easement

underground electric

and communications

Doc. #2153892

7

5

'

7

5

'

County PLSS Monument

Existing 1" Iron Pipe

Existing 

3

4

" Iron Rod

All other lot corners marked

with a 1.125" outside dia x 18" iron pipe

weighing 1.38 lbs/lin. ft.

LEGEND

All linear measurements have been made to

the nearest hundredth of a foot and computed

to the nearest hundredth of a foot.

All angular measurements have been made

to the nearest three seconds and computed to

the nearest half second.

Bearings are referenced to the Outagamie

County Coordinate System.  The south line of

the Southeast 1/4 bears N88°29'50"E.

S

W E

N

ENGINEERING, SURVEYING, ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Robert E. Lee & Associates, Inc.

9/26/21

1250 CENTENNIAL CENTRE BOULEVARD

HOBART, WI 54155

INTERNET: www.releeinc.com

PHONE:(920) 662-9641

FAX:(920) 662-9141

Troy E. Hewitt

Professional Land Surveyor #2831

Robert E. Lee & Associates, Inc.

1250 Centennial Centre Boulevard

Hobart, WI  54155

Greene Development Appleton

900 Challenger Drive

Green Bay, WI  54311

OWNER

SURVEYOR

1.64 Acres

CR - Regional Commercial

District

PARCEL ID

ZONING

MINIMUM LOT

AREA AS PLATTED

Town of Grand Chute

City of Appleton

Outagamie County

Department of Administration

6 Lots

844,131 Square Feet

19.379 Acres

NUMBER OF LOTS

PLATTED AREA

APPROVING & OBJECTING

AUTHORITIES

LOCATION SKETCH

N

EW

S

THIS PLAT

Southeast 

1

4

 of Section 20

T21N-R17E

Outagamie County, Wisconsin

Not to Scale

CENTER VALLEY AT 3800

ALL OF LOT 1 AND ALL OF LOT 3 OF VOLUME 47 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS, PAGE 7676, MAP NUMBER 7676,

DOCUMENT NUMBER 2152310, BEING PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

1

4

 OF THE SOUTHEAST 

1

4

, PART OF  THE

SOUTHWEST 

1

4

 OF THE SOUTHEAST 

1

4

, AND PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 

1

4

 OF THE SOUTHEAST 

1

4

, ALL LOCATED IN

SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, TOWN OF GRAND CHUTE, OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

NW-SE

I
n

t
e

r
s
t
a

t
e

 
H

i
g

h
w

a
y

 
'
4

1
'

SHEET 1 OF 1

R:\1300\1360\1360019\dwg\1360019_preliminary.dwg

101091300

101091303

Line Table

Line #

L1

L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

Length

53.11'

25.00'

24.75'

35.42'

0.67'

38.96'

Direction

N72°35'57"E

N01°30'10"W

N17°26'06"W

S72°33'54"W

N17°26'06"W

S17°26'06"E

Curve Table

Curve #

C1

C2

Delta

58°08'56"

15°11'32"

Radius

60.50'

910.00'

Length

61.40'

241.29'

Chord

Direction

N78°19'36"W

N15°06'51"W

Chord

Length

58.80'

240.58'

Tangent

Bearing

N49°15'08"W

N07°31'05"W

Second

Tangent Bearing

S72° 35' 57"W

N22° 42' 37"W

SW-SE
SE-SE

NE-SE

Wisconsin Avenue - STH '96'

C

a

n

a

d

i

a

n

 
N

a

t

i

o

n

a

l

 
R

a

i

l

r

o

a

d

200'0' 50' 100'

SCALE: 1" = 100'

L
5

L
4

2

1

8

.
1

7

'

S
7

2

°
3

3

'
5

4

"
W

0
.
5

8
'

0
.
4

6
'

Existing Building

Existing Building

Detail

Not to Scale

See detail

South 

1

4

 Corner

Section 20, T21N-R17E

PK Nail with Washer

Southeast Corner

Section 20, T21N-R17E

Existing PK Nail with Washer

L7

L8

L9

25.51'

21.13'

44.29'

N33°58'18"E

N03°04'35"E

S75°25'29"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
TROY E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEWITT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLS-2831

AutoCAD SHX Text
DE PERE,

AutoCAD SHX Text
WI

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R



 

 

 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

1819 E. Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Dean.gazza@appleton.org 

 

Memorandum 

To:   Parks and Recreation Committee  

From: Dean Gazza, Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department 

Date:   November 8, 2021 

Re:   Action Item: Request Approval of Reid Golf Course 2022 Rates Policy 

Attached is the proposed 2022 Reid Golf Course Rates Policy that outlines the daily fees 

and pass rates for 2022.  The 2022 Reid Golf Course Rates Policy is consistent with the 

policy adopted by the Park and Recreation Committee and Common Council for 2021.  

The proposed 2022 golf rates include a $1.00 increase to weekday 9-hole play and a 

$375.00 increase to the business pass. Increasing the 9-hole rate will bring our fee in line 

with other courses in the area. The cost per round for the business pass has dropped 

below an acceptable sustainable level due to increased costs for fuel, labor, and turf 

management supplies. 

The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department is requesting approval of 

the 2022 Reid Golf Course Rates Policy at this time to begin planning for the 2022 

season. 

Please feel free to contact me at (920) 832-5572 or dean.gazza@appleton.org if you need 

 additional information or have questions. 

 

 



 

 

 
CITY OF APPLETON 

POLICY 
 
TITLE: 20221 REID GOLF COURSE RATES  POLICY  
 

 
ISSUE  DATE:   
Day of Council Adoption 

 
LAST UPDATE: 
December 2008, December 
2010, December 2011, 
September 2012, September 
2013, August 2014 
October 2015, November 2016, 
November 2017, November 
2018, October 2019, November 
2020, November 2021 

 
LOCATION: 
J:\Department\Administration\Policies\
Golf Course 

 
POLICY SOURCE: 
Parks and Recreation Department 

 
TOTAL PAGES:  5 

 
Reviewed by Attorney’s Office 
Legal Services 
Date: October, 29, 2021 

 
Parks and Recreation Committee 
Approval Date: 

 
Council Approval Date:  
 

 
I.  PURPOSE: 
 
The Appleton Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department operates Reid Golf Course to 
maintain open space and provide for the recreational needs of the Ccommunity.  The adoption of the rates 
outlined in this policy provides additional recreational opportunities to the members of the public.  In 
addition, these rates shall provide revenues to meet operational, administrative and debt service expenses.  
The policy also contains procedures regarding refunds and coupon/pass upgrades that will provide 
additional golf opportunities, secure additional revenues for the City of Appleton and increase customer 
satisfaction.  
 
II.  POLICY: 
 
It is the policy of the City of Appleton to establish daily green fees, discount cards and annual pass rates to 
meet changing community and participant interests and secure revenues to meet operational, administrative 
and debt service needs of the golf course.  All daily green fees, discount cards and annual pass rates shall 
be established by the Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department and presented to the Parks 
and Recreation Committee and Council for annual review and adoption.  Special and/or seasonal rates shall 
be established by the Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department to address current market 
conditions, changing competition, local and national trends, seasonal opportunities, golf course conditions, 
etc. 
 
III.  DEFINITIONS: 
 

1. Discount Card – Provides 15% discount on regular green fees 



 

 

2. Weekday – Monday through Friday 
3. Weekend – Saturday, Sunday and holidays 
4. Dependent - Child age 18 and under (applicable on for family passes only) 
5. Junior – Age 18 and under 
6. Junior Associate – Ages 19 to 24 
7. Associate – Ages 25 to 40  
8. Adult – Ages 41 to 61  
9. Senior – Age 62 and up 
10. Family – All persons currently residing at the same address who are directly related 

(mother, father, son, daughter), or are foster children. Families are limited to two adults 
and the dependents and/or foster children. 

11. Guest Round – A free round of golf provided to a guest of  an Aannual pass holder. 
12. New Pass Holder – individual and/or family who have not purchased an annual pass the 

previous year. 
13. Business Pass – Pass purchased by businesses and companies for use by employees, 

business guests, etc.  The Business Pass includes a foursome for one tee time and two 
carts per day. 

 
IV. DISCUSSION: 
 

1. Weekday daily fees will be charged Monday through Friday, except holidays.  
2. Weekend daily fees will be charged Saturdays, Sundays and all holidays. 
3. A Weekday Pass: 

       a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
      b. Can be used anytime Monday through Friday. 
      c. Can be used for league play Monday through Friday. 

       d. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 
4. An Associate, Junior Associate, Adult, and Family Annual Pass: 

a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
b. Can be used anytime Monday through Sunday and holidays based on 

availability.   
c. Can be used for league play Monday through Friday. 
d. Can be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 

5. A Junior Annual Pass: 
       a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
       b. Can be used anytime Monday through Friday. 
       c. Can be used Saturdays, Sundays and holidays after 2:00 PM 
       d.  Can be used for tournaments, outings and special events. 
6. A Junior Summer Pass: 
       a. Is available for 9 or 18 hole play. 
       b. Can be used from Memorial Day to Labor Day only.  
       c. Can be used Monday through Friday from 6:00 am to 3:00 pm. 
       d. Can be used Saturdays, Sundays and holidays after 2:00 PM. 
       e. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings, and/or special events. 
7. A New Pass Holder (Weekday or Annual) can purchase a pass for the following year at 

the end of the current golf season and the pass can be used for the remainder of the 



 

 

current golf season and the entire following golf season.  The use of the Weekday and/or 
Annual Pass for the remainder of the current golf season will be consistent with #4, #5 
and #6 above. 

8. The Discount Card is available: 
       a. Provides a 15% discount on all regular green fees. 
       b. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 
9. Discount Cards, Special, Weekday and Annual Passes cannot be transferred to another 

individual. 
10. The Family Annual Pass provides the benefits listed in #4#5 above to the pass holder 

and family members. An adult family member must accompany a minor child/children 
when a Family Annual Pass is used. 

11. The Business Pass allows the company and/or business to schedule one (1) foursome 
for one tee time per day during the golf season and also includes two (2) carts.  The 
company and/or business must schedule the tee time for the foursome with the Pro Shop 
office at least 24 hours before the tee time by the designated business representative(s).  
The Business Pass cannot be used for outings or tournaments. 

12. The Guest Rounds provided to annual pass holders can only be used when the guest is 
accompanied by the pass holder.  Junior guest passes are only redeemable for juniors. 

13. The Guest Rounds are good for either 9-hole or 18-hole rounds. All guest passes are 
redeemable based on which golf pass was purchased, annual vs. weekday.   

14. All Discount Cards, Coupon Books, Weekday and Annual Passes expire at the end of 
the season for which they were purchased.   

15. Twilight rates allow for unlimited play from the established start time until the course 
closes.    

16. Cart rental is based on double occupancy when applicable, including annual individual 
cart pass. 

17. There will be no refunds issued for passes, coupon books or discount cards.  Exceptions 
may be granted in hardship cases by the Parks and Recreation Committee and City 
Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

REID GOLF COURSE – Proposed Fees 
WEEKDAY DAILY FEES 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Net 

Adult 9 $17.00 $17.00 $17.00 $17.00 $18.00 $1 
Adult 18 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 - 
Senior 9 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 

Senior 18 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 
Junior w/ restrictions $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 - 

WEEKEND DAILY FEES       

Adult/Junior/Senior 9 $19.00 $19.00 $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 - 
Adult/Junior/Senior 18 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 - 

REPLAY RATES       

Walking $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 
Riding $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 - 

TWILIGHT (unlimited golf)       

Walking $11.00 $11.00 $12.00 $12.00 $12.00 - 
Riding $22.00 $22.00 $23.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 

AFTERNOON TWILIGHT  
Fri, Sat & Sun 

      

9 Holes – walking $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 
18 Holes – walking $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 

DISCOUNT CARDS       

Adults/Seniors $31.50 $31.50 $31.65 $31.65 $31.65 - 

SPECIALS       

Junior Summer Pass $150 $150 $150 $150 $150 - 

WEEKDAY PASSES 
(Monday-Friday Only) 

      

Junior $175 $175 $175 $175 $175 - 

Adult $815 $815 $815 $815 $815 - 

Senior $660 $660 $660 $660 $660 - 

ANNUAL PASSES       
Junior $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 - 

Junior Associate $350 $350 $350 $350 $350 - 
Associate $735 $735 $735 $735 $735 - 

Adult $1050 $1050 $1050 $1050 $1050 - 
Senior $800 $800 $800 $800 $800 - 
Family $1155 $1155 $1200 $1200 $1200 - 

Business $2625 $2625 $2625 $2625 $3000 $375 
       

*Tax included on daily fees and annual passes* 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Returning Pass Holder Loyalties 
2018 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes and 3 free drink tickets. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2019 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2020 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2021 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2022 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
 
 
 

 
 



 
CITY OF APPLETON 

POLICY 
 
TITLE: 2022 REID GOLF COURSE RATES  POLICY  
 

 
ISSUE  DATE:   
Day of Council Adoption 

 
LAST UPDATE: 
December 2008, December 
2010, December 2011, 
September 2012, September 
2013, August 2014 
October 2015, November 2016, 
November 2017, November 
2018, October 2019, November 
2020, November 2021 

 
LOCATION: 
J:\Department\Administration\Policies\
Golf Course 

 
POLICY SOURCE: 
Parks and Recreation Department 

 
TOTAL PAGES:  5 

 
Reviewed by Legal Services 
Date: October 29, 2021 

 
Parks and Recreation Committee 
Approval Date: 

 
Council Approval Date:  
 

 
I.  PURPOSE: 
 
The Appleton Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department operates Reid Golf Course to 
maintain open space and provide for the recreational needs of the community.  The adoption of the rates 
outlined in this policy provides additional recreational opportunities to the members of the public.  In 
addition, these rates shall provide revenues to meet operational, administrative and debt service expenses.  
The policy also contains procedures regarding refunds and coupon/pass upgrades that will provide 
additional golf opportunities, secure additional revenues for the City of Appleton and increase customer 
satisfaction.  
 
II.  POLICY: 
 
It is the policy of the City of Appleton to establish daily green fees, discount cards and annual pass rates to 
meet changing community and participant interests and secure revenues to meet operational, administrative 
and debt service needs of the golf course.  All daily green fees, discount cards and annual pass rates shall 
be established by the Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department and presented to the Parks 
and Recreation Committee and Council for annual review and adoption.  Special and/or seasonal rates shall 
be established by the Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management Department to address current market 
conditions, changing competition, local and national trends, seasonal opportunities, golf course conditions, 
etc. 
 
III.  DEFINITIONS: 
 

1. Discount Card – Provides 15% discount on regular green fees 
2. Weekday – Monday through Friday 



3. Weekend – Saturday, Sunday and holidays 
4. Dependent - Child age 18 and under (applicable on family passes only) 
5. Junior – Age 18 and under 
6. Junior Associate – Ages 19 to 24 
7. Associate – Ages 25 to 40  
8. Adult – Ages 41 to 61  
9. Senior – Age 62 and up 
10. Family – All persons currently residing at the same address who are directly related 

(mother, father, son, daughter), or are foster children. Families are limited to two adults 
and the dependents and/or foster children. 

11. Guest Round – A free round of golf provided to a guest of  an annual pass holder. 
12. New Pass Holder – individual and/or family who have not purchased an annual pass the 

previous year. 
13. Business Pass – Pass purchased by businesses and companies for use by employees, 

business guests, etc.  The Business Pass includes a foursome for one tee time and two 
carts per day. 

 
IV. DISCUSSION: 
 

1. Weekday daily fees will be charged Monday through Friday, except holidays.  
2. Weekend daily fees will be charged Saturdays, Sundays and all holidays. 
3. A Weekday Pass: 

       a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
      b. Can be used anytime Monday through Friday. 
      c. Can be used for league play Monday through Friday. 

       d. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 
4. An Associate, Junior Associate, Adult, and Family Annual Pass: 

a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
b. Can be used anytime Monday through Sunday and holidays based on 

availability.   
c. Can be used for league play Monday through Friday. 
d. Can be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 

5. A Junior Annual Pass: 
       a. Is available for 9-hole or 18-hole play. 
       b. Can be used anytime Monday through Friday. 
       c. Can be used Saturdays, Sundays and holidays after 2:00 PM 
       d.  Can be used for tournaments, outings and special events. 
6. A Junior Summer Pass: 
       a. Is available for 9 or 18 hole play. 
       b. Can be used from Memorial Day to Labor Day only.  
       c. Can be used Monday through Friday from 6:00 am to 3:00 pm. 
       d. Can be used Saturdays, Sundays and holidays after 2:00 PM. 
       e. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings, and/or special events. 
7. A New Pass Holder (Weekday or Annual) can purchase a pass for the following year at 

the end of the current golf season and the pass can be used for the remainder of the 
current golf season and the entire following golf season.  The use of the Weekday and/or 



Annual Pass for the remainder of the current golf season will be consistent with #4, #5 
and #6 above. 

8. The Discount Card is available: 
       a. Provides a 15% discount on all regular green fees. 
       b. Cannot be used for tournaments, outings and/or special events. 
9. Discount Cards, Special, Weekday and Annual Passes cannot be transferred to another 

individual. 
10. The Family Annual Pass provides the benefits listed in #4 above to the pass holder and 

family members. An adult family member must accompany a minor child/children when 
a Family Annual Pass is used. 

11. The Business Pass allows the company and/or business to schedule one (1) foursome 
for one tee time per day during the golf season and also includes two (2) carts.  The 
company and/or business must schedule the tee time for the foursome with the Pro Shop 
office at least 24 hours before the tee time by the designated business representative(s).  
The Business Pass cannot be used for outings or tournaments. 

12. The Guest Rounds provided to annual pass holders can only be used when the guest is 
accompanied by the pass holder.  Junior guest passes are only redeemable for juniors. 

13. The Guest Rounds are good for either 9-hole or 18-hole rounds. All guest passes are 
redeemable based on which golf pass was purchased, annual vs. weekday.   

14. All Discount Cards, Coupon Books, Weekday and Annual Passes expire at the end of 
the season for which they were purchased.   

15. Twilight rates allow for unlimited play from the established start time until the course 
closes.    

16. Cart rental is based on double occupancy when applicable, including annual individual 
cart pass. 

17. There will be no refunds issued for passes, coupon books or discount cards.  Exceptions 
may be granted in hardship cases by the Parks and Recreation Committee and City 
Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REID GOLF COURSE – Proposed Fees 

WEEKDAY DAILY FEES 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Net 

Adult 9 $17.00 $17.00 $17.00 $17.00 $18.00 $1 

Adult 18 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 - 

Senior 9 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 

Senior 18 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 

Junior w/ restrictions $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 - 

WEEKEND DAILY FEES       

Adult/Junior/Senior 9 $19.00 $19.00 $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 - 

Adult/Junior/Senior 18 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 $31.00 - 

REPLAY RATES       

Walking $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 

Riding $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 $25.00 - 

TWILIGHT (unlimited golf)       

Walking $11.00 $11.00 $12.00 $12.00 $12.00 - 

Riding $22.00 $22.00 $23.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 

AFTERNOON TWILIGHT  
Fri, Sat & Sun 

      

9 Holes – walking $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 $15.00 - 

18 Holes – walking $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 $24.00 - 

DISCOUNT CARDS       

Adults/Seniors $31.50 $31.50 $31.65 $31.65 $31.65 - 

SPECIALS       

Junior Summer Pass $150 $150 $150 $150 $150 - 

WEEKDAY PASSES 
(Monday-Friday Only) 

      

Junior $175 $175 $175 $175 $175 - 

Adult $815 $815 $815 $815 $815 - 

Senior $660 $660 $660 $660 $660 - 

ANNUAL PASSES       

Junior $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 - 

Junior Associate $350 $350 $350 $350 $350 - 

Associate $735 $735 $735 $735 $735 - 

Adult $1050 $1050 $1050 $1050 $1050 - 

Senior $800 $800 $800 $800 $800 - 

Family $1155 $1155 $1200 $1200 $1200 - 

Business $2625 $2625 $2625 $2625 $3000 $375 

       
*Tax included on daily fees and annual passes* 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Returning Pass Holder Loyalties 
2018 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes and 3 free drink tickets. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2019 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2020 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2021 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
2022 Pass Sales 
-Returning Pass Holders receive 3 free guest passes. 
-Pass Holders receive packet including merchandise coupons and yardage book. 
-5% off 2 passes, 10% off 3 passes in March 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TO:  Dean Gazza, Director of Parks, Recreation, Facilities and Grounds  

 

FROM: Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

 

DATE:  November 3, 2021 

 

RE: Request to Install Oversized Wooden Letters Spelling “RISE” within Houdini 

Plaza 

 

 

The Appleton Public Arts Committee met on November 3, 2021 and recommended approval of 

the request from Creative Downtown Appleton Inc. to install oversized wooden letters spelling 

“RISE” on City-owned property located within Houdini Plaza at 121 W. College Avenue (Tax Id 

#31-2-0065-00) to be anchored into a base in the grass along the front angled walkway as shown 

on the attached maps and subject to the following conditions. 

 

1. Agreement between the applicant and the City will be prepared by the City’s Legal 

Services Department and shall be executed prior to installation.  This agreement will 

memorialize the expectations of the parties including the location of the art, installation 

and insurance requirements, maintenance, liability, indemnification, and the like.   

 

2. Upon completion of the installation, a structural/professional engineer shall provide 

certification that the artwork was installed according to specifications and meets required 

structural standards. 

 

3. The applicant shall coordinate with Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management to 

determine the exact location of the structure.  PRFM shall be onsite for the installation of 

the structure. 

 

4. Applicant shall contact Digger’s Hotline for underground utility locates and Parks, 

Recreation and Facilities Management for underground sprinkler line locates prior to any 

site work commencing. 

 

5. Applicant is required to fully restore the grass and/or repair any damage that occurs as a 

result of this installation. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



6. Installation will occur as soon as practical after all approvals are received and the Public 

Art Agreement is fully executed.  RISE structure shall be removed, and the site restored, 

no later than March 31, 2022. 

 

 

Per the Art in Public Places Policy, the recommendation from the Appleton Public Arts 

Committee is forwarded to the committee of jurisdiction, in this case, the Parks and Recreation 

Committee.  Please place this item on the agenda for the November 8, 2021 Parks and Recreation 

Committee agenda.  Their recommendation would then be forwarded to the Common Council for 

final consideration on November 17, 2021. 

 

The Staff Report prepared for the Public Art Committee is attached as reference. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Applicant:  Creative Downtown Appleton Inc., c/o Jennifer Stephany 

 

Property Owner: City of Appleton c/o Dean Gazza, Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities 

Management  

 

Address/Parcel:  Houdini Plaza – 121 W. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0065-00) 

 

Applicant’s Request:  Applicant is requesting to display oversized wooden letters spelling “RISE” 

within Houdini Plaza.  

 

PROJECT DETAILS___________________________________________________________  _ 

Brief Description of Project and Location:  The applicant is proposing to install oversized letters 

spelling the word “RISE” along the walkway in Houdini Plaza.  The installation will be displayed through 

March 2022 and is similar to the HOPE installation last year.  The letters will be made of wood and 

painted white.  Each letter will be approximately 4 feet tall and will be anchored to a wooden base.  The 

wooden base from the HOPE installation will be reused for this project.  The letters will also be lit.  The 

artwork will be owned and maintained by Creative Downtown Appleton, Inc. 
 

Reason for Choosing the Proposed Location:  Houdini Plaza offers great visibility for our community 

and allows people to walk up and take a picture with the RISE installation. Proximity to an electrical 

source was also a consideration for the chosen location. 
 

Description of How the Work is Installed/Anchored/Attached:  The letters will be made of wood and 

each letter will be approximately 4 feet tall and 4 inches deep.  The letters will be anchored to a 5 foot by 

14 foot base that is one foot tall.  The engineering specifications for the HOPE letters are also applicable 

to the RISE letters since the letters are similar size and are being anchored to the same base.  
 

Timeline and Duration of Installation:  Installation will occur as soon as practical after approvals are 

received.  RISE will be displayed until March 31, 2022. 

 

Maintenance and Cost:  The RISE installation will be maintained by Creative Downtown Appleton Inc.  

A Public Art Agreement will be prepared by the City’s Legal Services Department and will need to be 

executed prior to installation. 

REPORT TO PUBLIC ARTS COMMITTEE 

Appleton Public Arts Committee Meeting Date:  November 3, 2021 

 

Parks & Recreation Committee Date:  November 8, 2021 

 

Common Council Meeting Date:  November 17, 2021 

 

Item: Together we RISE – Houdini Plaza 

 

Case Manager:  Jessica Titel 

Community 

and Economic  

Development 



Together we RISE – Houdini Plaza 

November 3, 2021 

Page 2 

 

Associated Signage:  A sign will be attached to the base of the sign that recognizes supporting donors.  

The sign will be 10 inches tall by 8 feet long.  Per the Art in Public Places Policy, any artwork signage 

shall meet the parameters set forth in Zoning Code Section 23-531(e), which allows each artwork one 

plaque/sign not to exceed nine square feet in size. 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 

illustrates the importance of the arts community to Appleton and encourages the expansion and promotion 

of placemaking and arts in the City.  The proposed public art project is consistent with the following goals 

and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Chapter 3 – Community Vision #12: Creative place making and public art enhance the public realm and 

contribute to a vibrant economy. 

 

Goal 7 – Agricultural, Natural, and Cultural Resources  

Appleton will continue to protect and enhance its environmental quality and important natural resources, 

preserve historic sites, and support cultural opportunities for community residents. 

 

Chapter 14 – Downtown Plan  

• Strategy 1.1 Continue development of entry features on major routes into the downtown 

• Strategy 1.4 Install sculpture, murals, and other art in public locations throughout the downtown  

• Strategy 2.1 Maintain and strengthen the vitality of the arts and entertainment niche 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Based upon the guidelines outlined in the Art in Public Places Policy, staff recommends that the proposed 

Together we RISE installation within Houdini Plaza – 121 W. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0065-00), 

as shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. Agreement between the applicant and the City will be prepared by the City’s Legal Services 

Department and shall be executed prior to installation.  This agreement will memorialize the 

expectations of the parties including the location of the art, installation and insurance 

requirements, maintenance, liability, indemnification, and the like.   

2. Upon completion of the installation, a structural/professional engineer shall provide certification 

that the artwork was installed according to specifications and meets required structural standards. 

3. The applicant shall coordinate with Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management to determine the 

exact location of the structure.  PRFM shall be onsite for the installation of the structure. 

4. Applicant shall contact Digger’s Hotline for underground utility locates and Parks, Recreation and 

Facilities Management for underground sprinkler line locates prior to any site work commencing. 

5. Applicant is required to fully restore the grass and/or repair any damage that occurs as a result of 

this installation. 

6. Installation will occur as soon as practical after all approvals are received and the Public Art 

Agreement is fully executed.  RISE structure shall be removed, and the site restored, no later than 

March 31, 2022. 

 



2-0
27

3-6
0

2-0
27

3-5
0

2-0
27

3-4
2

2-0
27

3-4
1

2-0
13

9-1
5

2-0
13

9-1
6

2-0
13

9-9
2-0

13
9-1

0
2-0

13
9-1

1
2-0

13
9-1

2
2-0

13
9-1

4

2-0273-13
2-0273-30

2-0139-20

2-0139-1
2-0139-2

2-0139-3

2-0139-5
2-0139-4

2-0139-8
2-0139-7
2-0139-6

2-0139-22

2-0139-21

2-0139-23

2-0139-19

2-0139-18

2-0139-17

0-0
06

9

2-0272-2

2-0052

2-0
04

4
2-0

04
3

2-0
04

2
2-0

04
1

2-0
04

0
2-0

03
9

2-0
03

8
2-0

28
7

2-0156

2-0144

2-0074

2-0
08

3
2-0

08
2

2-0281-1

2-0152

2-0067
2-0

07
0

2-0
06

9

2-0072

2-0090

2-0
07

8

2-0
08

1

2-0
07

9
2-0

08
0 2-0

06
5

2-0272-1

2-0290-1

2-0272

2-0
25

7

2-0251 2-0253

2-0
26

0

2-0
26

3

2-0793

2-0282-1
2-0282-2
2-0282-3

2-0282

2-0085
2-0084

2-0
06

6

0-0
04

4-1
0-0

04
4

2-0
27

3-2
1

2-0
27

3-2
0

2-0
27

3-6
2-0

27
3-5

2-0
27

3-4
2-0

27
3-3

2-0
27

3-2

2-0
27

3-1
2

2-0116-1

2-0273-9
2-0273-102-0273-11

2-0273-40

2-0142

10
0

11
6

221

12
0

100

12
1

118

111

13
4

1011

1
2

3
4

5
6

9

7
21

0

21
8

22
6

22
8

23
22

21
20

19

18
1716 15 14

12 8

20
1

21
1

20
5

20
7

20
3

21
5

200

22
0

22
2

22
4

121

11
11

09
10

7
11

7

10
9

11
1-1

3

10
1-0

5

10
7

10010

301

12
5

13
1

221

20
9

11
7

11
5

11
9

11
3

10
1

10
3

10
7

10
9

11
1

115

SOLDIERS SQUARE

S O
NE

IDA
 ST

W COLLEGE AV

S A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

W LAWRENCE ST

ALLEY S O
NE

ID
A S

T

S A
LL

EN
 ST

W JOHNSTON ST

S S
UP

ER
IO

R 
ST

N 
SU

PE
RI

OR
 ST

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

E KIMBALL ST

W CITY CENTER ST

E COLLEGE AV

N 
ON

EID
A S

T

E LAWRENCE ST

ALLEYCBD

PD/R-3

W COLLEGE AV

W PACKARD ST

N 
LA

W
E S

T

N 
DR

EW
 S

T

E COLLEGE AV

W FRANKLIN ST

S L
AW

E S
T

S M
EM

OR
IA

L D
R

W SIXTH ST

W WATER ST

W PROSPECT A
V

N 
RI

CH
MO

ND
 ST

E WATER ST

S W
AL

NU
T S

T

W LAWRENCE ST

N 
MO

RR
IS

ON
 ST

HY
 47

W WASHINGTON ST

Public Art Committee
Together we RISE 

Houdini Plaza
Zoning Map

Subject Area

Subject
Area

Public Art Committee
11-3-2021 ± 0 90 18045 Feet



2-0273-13
2-0273-30

2-0139-1

0-0
06

9

2-0144

2-0
08

3
2-0

08
2

2-0067
2-0

07
0

2-0
06

9

2-0072

2-0
07

8

2-0
08

1

2-0
07

9
2-0

08
0 2-0

06
5

2-0290-1
2-0

26
0

2-0
26

3

2-0085
2-0084

2-0
06

6

2-0
27

3-2
1

2-0
27

3-2
0

2-0
27

3-6
2-0

27
3-5

2-0
27

3-4
2-0

27
3-3

2-0
27

3-2

2-0273-9
2-0273-102-0273-11

2-0273-40

10
0

100

12
1

1
21

0

21
8

20
1

21
1

20
5

20
7

20
3

21
5

200

121

11
1

10
9

10
7

11
7

10
9

11
1-1

3

10
1-0

5

10
7

10

ALLEY

W COLLEGE AV

W LAWRENCE ST

S A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

S O
NE

ID
A S

T

W CITY CENTER ST

N A
PP

LE
TO

N 
ST

W JOHNSTON ST

ALLEY

Public Art Committee
Together we RISE 

Houdini Plaza
Aerial Map

Public Art Committee
11-3-2021

Subject Area

± 0 100 20050 Feet











 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TO:  Dean Gazza, Director of Parks, Recreation, Facilities and Grounds  

 

FROM: Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

 

DATE:  November 3, 2021 

 

RE: Acre of Art Season III – Request for Extension of 2-Year Exhibition – 

“Gyan/Gesture of Conscience” Sculpture – Jones Park 

 

 

The Appleton Public Arts Committee met on November 3, 2021 and recommended approval of 

the request from Sculpture Valley, Inc. to extend the current 2-year 2019 placement of the 

“Gyan/Gesture of Conscience” sculpture on City-owned property located within Jones Park at 

301 W. Lawrence Street (Tax Id #31-2-0116-01) to be removed by November 7, 2022 with no 

subsequent extensions granted. 

 

Per the Art in Public Places Policy, the recommendation from the Appleton Public Arts 

Committee is forwarded to the committee of jurisdiction, in this case, the Parks and Recreation 

Committee.  Please place this item on the agenda for the November 8, 2021 Parks and Recreation 

Committee agenda.  Their recommendation would then be forwarded to the Common Council for 

final consideration on November 17, 2021. 

 

The Staff Report prepared for the Public Art Committee is attached as reference. 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

TO:  Appleton Public Arts Committee (APAC) 

 

FROM: Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

 

DATE:  October 26, 2021 

 

RE: Extension Request – 2019 Acre of Art Sculptures 

              

 

Please see the attached letter from Alex Schultz with Sculpture Valley requesting an extension for the 

2019 Acre of Art installations listed below: 

• The Collective (East College Avenue right-of-way, near the west end of the College Avenue 

bridge) 

• Gyan/Gesture of Conscience (Jones Park) 

• To the Moon Alice (Vulcan Heritage Park) 

 

Approval of the two-year display period for the Acre of Art sculptures listed above was granted by 

Committee/Common Council on the following dates: 

• Public Art Committee – September 3, 2019 

• Parks & Recreation Committee (Gyan/Gesture of Conscience & To the Moon Alice) – September 

9, 2019 

• Municipal Services Committee (The Collective) – September 9, 2019 

• Common Council – September 18, 2019 

 

The Public Art Agreements for all three sculptures was fully executed on November 7, 2019.  Per Section 

4 of the agreement, the sculptures were to be displayed for a period of two years from the date of the 

agreement, which was November 7, 2019. 

 

It is important to note that the placement of The Collective was controversial.  The approval of this 

sculpture was re-visited several times at the Municipal Services Committee and the Common Council.  A 

request to rescind approval of The Collective was presented at the December 9, 2019 Municipal Services 

Committee.  Ultimately, the motion to rescind approval failed at the April 1, 2020 Common Council 

meeting and the sculpture was allowed to remain in this location. 

 

If an extension is granted, Staff would recommend no subsequent extensions are granted for these three 

sculptures.  The placement of these sculptures was meant to be temporary in nature.  The bases for the 

sculptures were also designed by the structural engineer with the understanding that this would be a 

temporary installation. 

 

Municipal Services Committee met on October 25, 2021 and granted an extension to allow The Collective 

sculpture to remain within the public right-of-way until April 30, 2022.  Staff would recommend that, if 

an extension is granted, that the time frame align with the recent Municipal Services action. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



 

Extension Timeframes (if the Art Committee approves the extension requests): 

The Collective – must be removed by April 30, 2022 

Gyan/Gesture of Conscience – must be removed by November 7, 2022 

To the Moon Alice – must be removed by November 7, 2022 

 

APPLETON PUBLIC ARTS COMMITTEE ACTION: 

Review the attached request and determine if the requested extension should be granted. 
 



October 21, 2021

Request to Extend exhibition of ACREofART Public Art lease placements of Season III artworks; 
Gesture of Consciences, To the Moon Alice and The Collective .

Dear Appleton Arts Commission, 

Three public artworks; Gesture of Consciences, To the Moon Alice and The Collective, were 
selected and placed by Sculpture Valley as part of our 20129-2021 ACREofART III public artwork 
exhibition. The approved 2-year temporary lease placements of these works are due to expire 
on November 7th, 2021. See attached.

Sculpture Valley has been in recent communication with these artists and has discovered it is 
challenging to compel two of them to return to Appleton to recover their works given their 
discomfort with travel during the pandemic. Additionally, Gesture of Consciences has been 
sold, but transport and installation of the work has been delayed until early spring. 

Sculpture Valley could comply with the approved exhibition agreements and remove these 
three works by the specified time-frame, but the burden to store these large pieces until the 
artists are comfortable to return to recover them, would be a significant challenge. 

Our contract with the artists includes a clause for automatic extension of ACREofART leases on 
private property for one year to accommodate scenarios like this. 

Sculpture Valley is requesting an extension of our original agreements with the City to allow 
these three artworks to remain in their current locations for an additional year but currently 
anticipates removal during the second quarter of 2022.

Sincerely,

Alex Schultz
Executive Director
Sculpture Valley

Sculpture Valley, Inc  501(3)c non-profit  EIN: 45-2690499



Vulcan Heritage Park - Boardwalk Landing area.

Vulcan Heritage Park is a previously considered ACRE site. It will become a transition point for the future 
board-walk and SV likes it seclusion and scenic characteristics. Relatively little pedestrian conflict and a nice 
reflective space for sculpture that will capture traffic from 3 directions when future trails are implemented.

To the Moon Alice has been selected by John Bergstrom for its commentary on the next and vital “moon-shot” 
mission to a renewable energy future. The ties to Appleton’s historical harnessing of the Fox River’s raw energy 
for power as our pioneering first source of electricity make this location and this subject matter and ideal loca-
tion for this solar-lit work.

This sculpture requires no concrete pads or other at-grade support. It will be soft-anchored into the earth. This 
manner if installation in common for soft-scaped surfaces and was employed for Lessons Learned in Season I 
of the ACREofART.



College Ave - Old Green Bay Road 

Green Bay Road and College Ave transitional space is a previously considered ACRE site. SV considers this the 
most visible opportunity for vehicular viewing of ACREofART. Safe distance from traffic rights-of-way, 
excellent vantage points from every approach and large enough to accommodate a monumental scale sculpture.

The Collective was chosen by the family of Linda Moore, a Fox Valley artist and lifelong advocate for outsider 
art. This site is the optimal location for this work, among the few locations reviewed, based on scale and 
communication of a City which embraces diversity of race, creed, sexual orientation and more.

Mounted on 6’ round 6” high concrete pedestal. Sits just below grade. Minimal excavation of 3-4” necessary to 
stabilize base. Utilities confirmed enough clearance for placement.



Jones Park - Staircase Termination 

Jones Park will host works of art and perhaps permanent sculpture in the future. SV feels that timing 
and location presents a perfect opportunity to showcase the ACRE with one of 2019-2021 works. 

Gesture of Consciousness: Mudras, or representation of the ancient Gyan hand gestures, have specific intent in 
public exhibition.

Mounted on 6’ round 4” high concrete pedestal. Sits just below grade. Minimal excavation required. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TO:  Dean Gazza, Director of Parks, Recreation, Facilities and Grounds  

 

FROM: Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

 

DATE:  November 3, 2021 

 

RE: Acre of Art Season III – Request for Extension of 2-Year Exhibition – “To the 

Moon Alice” Sculpture – Vulcan Heritage Park 

 

 

The Appleton Public Arts Committee met on November 3, 2021 and recommended approval of 

the request from Sculpture Valley, Inc. to extend the current 2-year 2019 placement of the “To 

the Moon Alice” sculpture on City-owned property located within Vulcan Heritage Park (Tax Id 

#31-3-1478-00) to be removed by November 7, 2022 with no subsequent extensions granted. 

 

Per the Art in Public Places Policy, the recommendation from the Appleton Public Arts 

Committee is forwarded to the committee of jurisdiction, in this case, the Parks and Recreation 

Committee.  Please place this item on the agenda for the November 8, 2021 Parks and Recreation 

Committee agenda.  Their recommendation would then be forwarded to the Common Council for 

final consideration on November 17, 2021. 

 

The Staff Report prepared for the Public Art Committee is attached as reference. 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

TO:  Appleton Public Arts Committee (APAC) 

 

FROM: Jessica Titel, Principal Planner 

 

DATE:  October 26, 2021 

 

RE: Extension Request – 2019 Acre of Art Sculptures 

              

 

Please see the attached letter from Alex Schultz with Sculpture Valley requesting an extension for the 

2019 Acre of Art installations listed below: 

• The Collective (East College Avenue right-of-way, near the west end of the College Avenue 

bridge) 

• Gyan/Gesture of Conscience (Jones Park) 

• To the Moon Alice (Vulcan Heritage Park) 

 

Approval of the two-year display period for the Acre of Art sculptures listed above was granted by 

Committee/Common Council on the following dates: 

• Public Art Committee – September 3, 2019 

• Parks & Recreation Committee (Gyan/Gesture of Conscience & To the Moon Alice) – September 

9, 2019 

• Municipal Services Committee (The Collective) – September 9, 2019 

• Common Council – September 18, 2019 

 

The Public Art Agreements for all three sculptures was fully executed on November 7, 2019.  Per Section 

4 of the agreement, the sculptures were to be displayed for a period of two years from the date of the 

agreement, which was November 7, 2019. 

 

It is important to note that the placement of The Collective was controversial.  The approval of this 

sculpture was re-visited several times at the Municipal Services Committee and the Common Council.  A 

request to rescind approval of The Collective was presented at the December 9, 2019 Municipal Services 

Committee.  Ultimately, the motion to rescind approval failed at the April 1, 2020 Common Council 

meeting and the sculpture was allowed to remain in this location. 

 

If an extension is granted, Staff would recommend no subsequent extensions are granted for these three 

sculptures.  The placement of these sculptures was meant to be temporary in nature.  The bases for the 

sculptures were also designed by the structural engineer with the understanding that this would be a 

temporary installation. 

 

Municipal Services Committee met on October 25, 2021 and granted an extension to allow The Collective 

sculpture to remain within the public right-of-way until April 30, 2022.  Staff would recommend that, if 

an extension is granted, that the time frame align with the recent Municipal Services action. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



 

Extension Timeframes (if the Art Committee approves the extension requests): 

The Collective – must be removed by April 30, 2022 

Gyan/Gesture of Conscience – must be removed by November 7, 2022 

To the Moon Alice – must be removed by November 7, 2022 

 

APPLETON PUBLIC ARTS COMMITTEE ACTION: 

Review the attached request and determine if the requested extension should be granted. 
 



October 21, 2021

Request to Extend exhibition of ACREofART Public Art lease placements of Season III artworks; 
Gesture of Consciences, To the Moon Alice and The Collective .

Dear Appleton Arts Commission, 

Three public artworks; Gesture of Consciences, To the Moon Alice and The Collective, were 
selected and placed by Sculpture Valley as part of our 20129-2021 ACREofART III public artwork 
exhibition. The approved 2-year temporary lease placements of these works are due to expire 
on November 7th, 2021. See attached.

Sculpture Valley has been in recent communication with these artists and has discovered it is 
challenging to compel two of them to return to Appleton to recover their works given their 
discomfort with travel during the pandemic. Additionally, Gesture of Consciences has been 
sold, but transport and installation of the work has been delayed until early spring. 

Sculpture Valley could comply with the approved exhibition agreements and remove these 
three works by the specified time-frame, but the burden to store these large pieces until the 
artists are comfortable to return to recover them, would be a significant challenge. 

Our contract with the artists includes a clause for automatic extension of ACREofART leases on 
private property for one year to accommodate scenarios like this. 

Sculpture Valley is requesting an extension of our original agreements with the City to allow 
these three artworks to remain in their current locations for an additional year but currently 
anticipates removal during the second quarter of 2022.

Sincerely,

Alex Schultz
Executive Director
Sculpture Valley

Sculpture Valley, Inc  501(3)c non-profit  EIN: 45-2690499



Vulcan Heritage Park - Boardwalk Landing area.

Vulcan Heritage Park is a previously considered ACRE site. It will become a transition point for the future 
board-walk and SV likes it seclusion and scenic characteristics. Relatively little pedestrian conflict and a nice 
reflective space for sculpture that will capture traffic from 3 directions when future trails are implemented.

To the Moon Alice has been selected by John Bergstrom for its commentary on the next and vital “moon-shot” 
mission to a renewable energy future. The ties to Appleton’s historical harnessing of the Fox River’s raw energy 
for power as our pioneering first source of electricity make this location and this subject matter and ideal loca-
tion for this solar-lit work.

This sculpture requires no concrete pads or other at-grade support. It will be soft-anchored into the earth. This 
manner if installation in common for soft-scaped surfaces and was employed for Lessons Learned in Season I 
of the ACREofART.



College Ave - Old Green Bay Road 

Green Bay Road and College Ave transitional space is a previously considered ACRE site. SV considers this the 
most visible opportunity for vehicular viewing of ACREofART. Safe distance from traffic rights-of-way, 
excellent vantage points from every approach and large enough to accommodate a monumental scale sculpture.

The Collective was chosen by the family of Linda Moore, a Fox Valley artist and lifelong advocate for outsider 
art. This site is the optimal location for this work, among the few locations reviewed, based on scale and 
communication of a City which embraces diversity of race, creed, sexual orientation and more.

Mounted on 6’ round 6” high concrete pedestal. Sits just below grade. Minimal excavation of 3-4” necessary to 
stabilize base. Utilities confirmed enough clearance for placement.



Jones Park - Staircase Termination 

Jones Park will host works of art and perhaps permanent sculpture in the future. SV feels that timing 
and location presents a perfect opportunity to showcase the ACRE with one of 2019-2021 works. 

Gesture of Consciousness: Mudras, or representation of the ancient Gyan hand gestures, have specific intent in 
public exhibition.

Mounted on 6’ round 4” high concrete pedestal. Sits just below grade. Minimal excavation required. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

FROM: Nikki Gerhard, Community Development Specialist   

DATE:  November 10, 2021 

RE: Recommendations for 2022 Community Development Block Grant Funding  

 

Background.  The estimated 2022 CDBG award listed in the 2022 City budget was $599,710.  This amount 

was estimated based on the most recent three years of awards.  Staff determined the allocations for the 

Homeowner Rehabilitation Loan Program, Appleton Housing Authority, and administrative costs.  The 

remaining amount was available for department projects and community partners through a competitive 

application process.  

 

Application Information.  CDBG applications from City Departments were due to the Community and 

Economic Development Department on August 31, 2021.  No applications were received.  CDBG 

applications from community partners for the 2022 program year were due to the Community and Economic 

Development Department on September 30, 2021.  

 

Ten applications were submitted under the routine annual allocation process.  After awards were allocated 

for City programs, administration, and the City Department project, the amount available to allocate to the 

community partner applicants was $321,231.  Only 15 percent of a grantee’s allocation may be used for 

public service activities, per HUD regulations.  In this instance, only a maximum of $89,956 is projected to 

be available for public service activities.  The total amount requested by community partner applicants 

whose activities fell under the public service category was $85,000; while the total amount requested by 

community partner applicants whose activities did not fall under the public service category was 

$1,133,873.  Refer to the attachments for a specific breakdown of the allocations. 

 

Application Review.  The CDBG Advisory Board met on October 26, 2021.  Members were asked to review 

the applications and decide upon allocation amounts prior to the meeting.  The allocation amounts made by 

each board member were compiled and discussed at the meeting.  Allocation recommendations were agreed 

upon pursuant to this discussion.    

 

Allocation Approval.  The funding allocation recommendations from the CDBG Advisory Board for 

community partners are presented in the attached table for CEDC approval.  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



Staff recommends approval of the preliminary allocations, as presented.  

 

The following attachments are provided for additional information on this action item. 

  

Attached Documents: 

 

1.) 2022PY CDBG Advisory Board Membership 

2.) CDBG Policy 

3.) 2022PY Community Partner Application Award Recommendations 

4.) 2022PY Simple Summary of Award Recommendations 

 

If you have any questions, please contact me at (920) 832-6469 or nikki.gerhard@appleton.org. Thank you! 

 

mailto:nikki.gerhard@appleton.org


City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

2022 CDBG ADVISORY BOARD 
 

Name Title Organization Contact 

Jacob 
Woodford 

Mayor City of 
Appleton 

jake.woodford@appleton.org 

Matthew 
Reed 

President Common 
Council 

District8@appleton.org 

Nate Wolff Vice Chair CEDC 
Committee 

District12@appleton.org 

Marissa 
Downs 

Chair ARA marissadowns@gmail.com 

Rhonda 
Hannemann 

 United Way 
Fox Cities 

Rhonda.Hannemann@UnitedWayFoxCities.org 

Isaac 
Uitenbroek 

Citizen 
Commissioner 

City Plan 
Commission 

iduitenbroek@gmail.com 

 
 
 
 

City of Appleton Staff 
Name Title Contact 

Monica Stage Deputy Director of Community & 
Economic Development 

Monica.stage@appleton.org 

Nikki Gerhard Community Development Specialist Nikki.gerhard@appleton.org 

Ryne Lodl Coordinated Entry Specialist Ryne.lodl@appleton.org 

 
 

 

mailto:jake.woodford@appleton.org
mailto:District8@appleton.org
mailto:District12@appleton.org
mailto:marissadowns@gmail.com
mailto:iduitenbroek@gmail.com
mailto:Monica.stage@appleton.org
mailto:Nikki.gerhard@appleton.org
mailto:Ryne.lodl@appleton.org


NON-PUBLIC SERVICE
PROJECT

ACTIVITY

PROJECTED 

OUTPUT

FUNDS WILL

BE USED TO…

AMOUNT 

REQUESTED

CDBG ADVISORY 

BOARD

$ REC

Apricity, Inc (DBA Mooring Programs public facility

Rehabilitation of 5 

Mooring Program 

houses & the main 

facility

Rehabilitation of 5 program houses & main facility $87,000 66,231$                

B.A.B.E.S., Inc Child Abuse Prevention Programs- 

Priority #1 Project
 public facility 

acquisition of new 

public facillity
acquisition of new public facility building $200,000 -$                     

B.A.B.E.S., Inc Child Abuse Prevention Programs- 

Priority #2 Project
 public facility 

renovation of 

public facililty
renovation of current public facility building $174,850 -$                     

Fox Valley Lutheran Homes  housing 

rehabilitation of 

senior housing 

facility

replacement of 72 windows & 42 patio doors to senior 

community housing facility
$340,023 -$                     

Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity housing

2 properties 

rehabilitated and 

sold to qualified 

homebuyers

acquire 2 properties to do full house rehabilitation and 

then sell to qualified low or moderate income 

homebuyers

$180,000 120,000$               

Pillars, Inc. housing
rehabilitation of 

door security
affordable housing door security improvements $27,000 -$                     

Rebuilding Together Fox Valley- Priority #1 

Project
housing

rehabilitation of 10 

units

Community Revitalization Partnership project to the 

West Appleton neighborhood
$100,000 80,000$                

Rebuilding Together Fox Valley- Priority #2 

Project
 housing 

rehabilitation of 5 

units

offer additional modifications & repairs beyond CRP 

(above)
$25,000 -$                     

1,133,873.00$   266,231.00$     

PUBLIC SERVICE
PROJECT

ACTIVITY

PROJECTED 

OUTPUT

FUNDS WILL

BE USED TO…

AMOUNT 

REQUESTED

CDBG ADVISORY 

BOARD

$ REC

Harbor House DV Shelter Program  public service 
 500 persons 

served 

 fund salaries & fringes for shelter case managers & 

advocates 
$25,000  $                25,000 

LEAVEN, Inc
 public

service 

 188 households 

served 

provide rental assistance to those at risk of 

homelessness through the Emergency Assistance 

Program

$60,000.00  $                30,000 

$85,000.00 $55,000.00

$278,479.00

CDBG Advisory Board Recommendations $321,231.00

$599,710

 City Programs/Appleton Housing Authority/Administration 

(previously approved) 

 Community Partner Application AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS

for the 2022 CDBG Program Year 



Awarded

City of Appleton Homeowner Rehabilitation Loan Program 120,000$                 

Fair Housing Services 25,000$                   

Appleton Housing Authority 75,000$                   

CDBG Program Administration Costs 58,479$                   

Greater Fox Cities Habitat for Humanity 120,000$                 

Rebuilding Together Fox Valley 80,000$                   

The Mooring Programs 66,231$                   

Harbor House 25,000$                   

LEAVEN, Inc. 30,000$                   

TOTAL 599,710$            

AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 2022 CDBG PROGRAM YEAR

City Programs/Appleton Housing Authority/Administration

Non-Public Service

Public Service



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 1 of 9 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Policy 
Adopted 9/8/2008 

Amended 5/24/2010, 10/3/2012, 12/19/2012, 7/15/2015, 10/21/2020, 11/17/2021 

 
I. PURPOSE 

To outline the following aspects of the local Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program: a) 
elements to which the City of Appleton must adhere in order to comply with federal regulations; b) locally-
established guidelines; and c) priorities for subrecipient and City Program activity. 

 
II. POLICY 

The federal CDBG program was established with the passage of the Housing and Community Development 
Act of 1974. CDBG funds are distributed to eligible governmental units in two forms:  

(1). Entitlement grants directly to cities and counties, and; 
(2). State grants, which involve annual competitions for non-entitlement communities. 

 

Since 1975, the City of Appleton has received CDBG funds as an entitlement community. The amount of 
CDBG funds received each year varies based on the appropriation approved by the U.S. Congress and the 
number of governmental units eligible to participate. While the federal fiscal year operates from October 1 
to September 30, the City selected April 1 to March 31 as its CDBG fiscal year. This selection was made as 
the federal government generally does not release the aforementioned funds until springtime. Federal 
oversight lies within the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD). 

 
III. FEDERAL REGULATIONS 

The citation reference from Title 24 Part 570 – Community Development Block Grants can be found in parentheses next to 
each heading below. Please view that section for more information on the respective item. This Policy will be revised 

periodically as required to fulfill related Federal, State, and/or local funding requirements.   
 
A. Federal Eligibility (24 CFR 570.201) 

CDBG funds may be used for the following basic eligible activities:
(1). Acquisition 
(2). Disposition  
(3). Public Facilities/Improvements 
(4). Clearance/Remediation 
(5). Public Services 
(6). Interim Assistance 
(7). Payment of Non-Federal Share 
(8). Urban Renewal Completion 
(9). Relocation 
(10). Loss of Rental Income  

(11). Housing Services 
(12). Privately-Owned Utilities 
(13). Homeownership Assistance 
(14). Economic Development Assistance 
(15). Technical Assistance 
(16). Institutions of Higher Education 
(17). Rehabilitation/Preservation (24 CFR 570.202) 
(18). Planning (24 CFR 570.205)  
(19). Administration (24 CFR 570.206)

 
B. Ineligible Activities (24 CFR 570.207) 

The following activities may not be assisted with CDBG funds: 
(1). Buildings (or portions thereof) for the General Conduct of Government 
(2). General Government Expenses 
(3). Political Activities 

 
 
 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 2 of 9 

The following activities are not eligible for CDBG funding, but may be allowed under certain circumstances:
(1). Purchase of Equipment 
(2). Operating/Maintenance Expenses 

(3). New Housing Construction 
(4). Income Payments

 
 
C. Special Economic Development Projects (24 CFR 570.203) 

CDBG funds may be used for special economic development activities in addition to other activities.  
Special economic development activities include: 

 

(1). Acquisition, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or installation of commercial or industrial 
buildings, structures, and other real property equipment and improvements 

(2). Assistance to a private for-profit business, including, but not limited to, grants, loans, loan 
guarantees, interest supplements, technical assistance, and other forms of support, for any activity 
where the assistance is appropriate to carry out an economic development project 

(3). Economic development services, including, but not limited to, outreach efforts; screening of 
applicants; reviewing/underwriting applications; preparation of all necessary agreements; 
management of activities; and the screening, referral, and placement of applicants for employment 

 
D. National Objectives (24 CFR 570.208) 

In order to qualify for funding, activities must meet one of three CDBG national objectives: 
 

(1). Low & Moderate Income (LMI) Benefit  
a. Area Benefit: activities available for the benefit of all the residents in a particular area, where at 

least 51 percent of those residents are LMI persons. 
b. Limited Clientele: activities benefiting a specific group (i.e. abused children, elderly persons, 

battered spouses), at least 51 percent of whom are LMI persons. 
c. Housing: activities carried out for the purpose of providing or improving permanent 

residential structures that, upon completion, will be occupied by LMI households. 
d. Job Creation/Retention: activities designed to create or retain permanent jobs where at least 51 

percent of the jobs involve the employment of LMI persons. 
 

(2). Slum & Blight Removal 
a. Area Basis: activities undertaken to eliminate specific conditions of blight, physical decay, or 

environmental contamination that are located in a designated area of distress, including 
acquisition, clearance, relocation, historic preservation, remediation of environmentally 
contaminated properties, or rehabilitation. Rehabilitation must eliminate conditions that are 
detrimental to public health/safety; acquisition and relocation must be precursors to other 
activities that eliminate blight. 

b. Spot Basis: activities undertaken to eliminate specific conditions of blight, physical decay, or 
environmental contamination at specific sites not located in designated blighted areas, 
including acquisition, clearance, relocation, historic preservation, remediation of 
environmentally contaminated properties, or rehabilitation. Rehabilitation must eliminate 
conditions that are detrimental to public health/safety; acquisition and relocation must be 
precursors to other activities that eliminate blight. 

 

(3). Urgent Need  
a. Activities designed to alleviate existing conditions of recent origin (18 months) that pose 

serious threats to the health and welfare of the community; this objective may only be used if 
the community cannot finance necessary activities with other sources. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 3 of 9 

E. Categorical Limits 
(1). At least 70 percent of CDBG funds utilized during three consecutive program years, as specified by 

the grantee, must be expended for LMI benefit; the costs of planning and program administration 
are excluded from this calculation. (24 CFR 570.200(a)(3)) 

(2). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for public service activities in each program year may not 
exceed 15 percent of the total entitlement grant for that program year, plus 15 percent of the 
program income received during the preceding program year. (24 CFR 570.201(e)(1)) 

(3). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for planning and administration activities in each program 
year may not exceed 20 percent of the total entitlement grant for that program year plus the 
program income received during that program year. (24 CFR 570.200(g)) 

 
F. Program Income (24 CFR 570.426) 

The City may reuse any revenue generated from projects undertaken with CDBG funding towards other 
eligible activities within the entitlement community. Furthermore, any program income earned by a 
subrecipient or City Program may be retained by the subrecipient or City Program provided the income is 
treated as additional CDBG funds and thus subject to all applicable federal and local requirements. 
 
As defined in 24CFR Part 570.500, program income includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

• Proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real property purchased or improved with 
CDBG funds; 

• Proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with CDBG funds; 

• Gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired by subrecipients with CDBG 
funds, less costs incidental to generation of the income; 

• Gross income from the use or rental of real property, owned by subrecipients that was constructed or 
improved with CDBG funds, less costs incidental to generation of the income; 

• Payments of principal and interest on loans made using CDBG funds, except as provided in 24CFR 
570.500(a)(3); and 

• Interest earned on program income pending its disposition. 
 
Program income must be tracked in a chart of accounts, using a segregated account for managing sources 
and uses. By the 15th day of the month following the end of the quarter, the City’s Finance Department will 
review each transaction that generated program income and the subsequent transaction for which program 
income was applied. The program income will then be entered into the City’s Chart of Accounts so that it is 
reflected in the general ledger, as well as receipting the program income in IDIS so that draws can be made 
against the balance accordingly. The City maintains the discretion to enter program income more frequently 
as deemed necessary. 
 
CDBG regulations require that, at the end of each program year (March 31), the City of Appleton must 
determine whether there is excess program income on hand, and return any excess to the line of credit.  

 
G. Fair Housing (24 CFR 570.601) 

The Secretary of HUD requires that: 
 

(1). Grantees must administer all activities related to housing and community development in a manner 
to affirmatively further the policies of the Fair Housing Act. (Public Law 90-284) 

(2). Entitlement communities shall conduct an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice every 
five years, take action to overcome the effects of the identified impediments and maintain records 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 4 of 9 

reflecting the analysis and related actions taken. 
 
H. Environmental Review Procedures (24 CFR 570.604) 

The environmental review procedures outlined in 24 CFR part 58 must be completed for each CDBG 
subrecipient and City Program activity, as applicable. 

 
I. Faith-Based Activities (24 CFR 570.200) 

Religious or faith-based organizations are eligible to participate in the CDBG program. Local government 
representatives and CDBG program administrators shall not discriminate against an organization on the 
basis of its religious affiliation. 
 

J. Submission Requirements (24 CFR 570.302) 
CDBG entitlement communities must submit the following documents: 

(1). Action Plan → annually 

(2). Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) → annually 

(3). Consolidated Plan → every three to five years, as chosen by the entitlement community 
Creation of these documents must follow HUD requirements for content and citizen participation (see the 
City of Appleton CDBG Citizen Participation Plan). 

 
K. Location of Activities (24 CFR 570.309) 

CDBG funds may be awarded to an activity outside the jurisdiction of the entitlement community only if it 
can be determined that the activity directly benefits the entitlement community’s residents. Documentation 
of these benefits must be provided before CDBG funds are awarded for the activity. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 5 of 9 

L. Conflict of Interest (24 CFR 570.611) 
No persons affiliated with the entitlement community (including subrecipients and City Programs) who 
exercise or have exercised any responsibilities with respect to CDBG programming, or who are in a position 
to participate in a decision-making process, may obtain a financial interest or benefit from a CDBG-assisted 
activity (including subcontracts), either for themselves or those with whom they have business or immediate 
family ties, during their tenure or for one year thereafter. 

 
IV. LOCAL PROGRAM GUIDELINES  
 
A. Program Oversight 

The Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) – composed of five aldermen appointed 
by the Mayor – serves as the jurisdiction for Common Council oversight of the CDBG Program. Local 
financial oversight lies with the City of Appleton Finance Department. Local administrative/programmatic 
oversight lies with the City of Appleton Community and Economic Development Department (CEDD). 

 
B. Consolidated Plan Submission 

The City of Appleton has elected to submit a Consolidated Plan to HUD every five years. The Citizen 
Participation Plan provides for and encourages citizens to participate in the development of the 
Consolidated Plan, which will begin approximately one year before the required submittal date. 

 
C. Definitions 

• Subrecipient – an entity charged with implementation of one or more activities funded with 
Appleton CDBG dollars 

▪ community partner subrecipient – local agencies awarded CDBG-funding to implement an 
eligible activity via a competitive application process 

▪ public services subrecipient – local agencies awarded CDBG-funding to implement an 
eligible public service activity via a competitive application process 

• Adjusted award – the amount of CDBG funds available to City Programs and subrecipients after 
administration, fair housing, and audit allocations are deducted 

 
D. Local Categorical Limits 

The following limits expand upon federal categorical limits associated with the CDBG program: 
 

(1). At least 70 percent of CDBG funds utilized over three program years must be expended for LMI 
benefit; this excludes planning/CDBG administration activities. 

(2). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for public service activities in each program year may not 
exceed 15 percent of the adjusted award for that year unless otherwise specified under the pertinent 
Federal regulation or applicable waivers to prevent the spread of infectious disease and mitigate economic 
impacts caused by infectious disease. 

(3). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for planning/CDBG administration activities in each 
program year may not exceed 20 percent of the total entitlement grant for that year. 

(4). Any single award will not be less than $10,000. 
 
E.  Audit Requirements 

Section 2 Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations and the State Single Audit Guidelines require major 
state programs and federal programs to complete a single audit. The necessary amount for fulfilling these 
requirements will be identified by the Finance Department and the City’s independent auditors. This 
amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available for the program year and not included in the 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 6 of 9 

estimates of the adjusted award. 
 
F. Fair Housing Services 

In keeping with the spirit of federal fair housing requirements, an annual allocation for fair housing services 
will be approved. This activity will be reported as an administrative expense, which claims no benefit. The 
City of Appleton will utilize the award to contract with an independent entity qualified to provide residents 
with a variety of fair housing services. This amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available 
for the program year and not included in the estimates of the adjusted award. 
 

G. Program Administration 
HUD requires entitlement communities to provide for efficient and adequate administration of CDBG 
programming. Administration costs may only include: salary/fringe, necessary training/travel, supplies and 
telephone/postage, in addition to fair housing services and audit costs. The necessary amount for fulfilling 
this requirement will be identified by the Community and Economic Development and Finance 
Departments. This amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available for the program year and 
not included in the estimates of the adjusted award.  

 
H. Annual Allocation of CDBG Funding 

The City of Appleton’s Program Year begins April 1 and concludes March 31 of the following year. Each 
program year, administration, audit and fair housing costs, along with adequate funding for the Homeowner 
Rehabilitation Loan Program, the Neighborhood Program and Appleton Housing Authority will be 
subtracted from the annual entitlement award amount to determine the adjusted award. The adjusted award 
will first be available to City of Appleton Departments/Programs/component units that wish to undertake 
projects. After the City allocation process is complete, any remaining funds may be allocated to community 
partner applicants.   

 
I. City Allocation Process 

Each year adequate funding will be allocated through the City Budget process to the following: Homeowner 
Rehabilitation Loan Program, Neighborhood Program, Administration Costs and Appleton Housing 
Authority. Then, other City of Appleton Departments will have the opportunity to submit an application for 
CDBG funding. The application will include information relating to goals, outputs, budget/financing, 
detailed activity descriptions, capacity and performance. CEDD staff, per HUD rules and regulations, will 
perform an administrative review of each plan to ensure that: 
 

1. Proposed activities are included within the listing of eligible activities (24 CFR 570.201) 
2. Proposed activities do not fall within a category of explicitly ineligible activities (24 CFR 570.207) 
3. Proposed activities will meet one of the national objectives of the program (24 CFR 570.200) 
4. Proposed activities will address priority needs as identified in the Consolidated Plan 

 
Upon completion of the administrative review, the plans will be presented to the CEDC. CEDC will also 
review the submitted plans to ensure the proposed activities meet the four standards listed above and 
allocate adequate funds for each plan. CEDC’s recommendation will then be presented to the Common 
Council for approval. 

 
J. Community Partner Subrecipient Allocation Process 

The community partner application process will begin after allocations for City applications have been 
approved, and end with recommended allocations being announced after Council approval. Applications 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 7 of 9 

will be made available for approximately one month and should be submitted to the CEDD. All applications 
must be received by the announced deadline; no exceptions will be made. CEDD staff will perform an 
administrative review of each proposal, per HUD rules and regulations, to ensure the four standards listed 
under letter E. above, will be met if proposed activities are funded.  
 
Upon completion of the administrative review, the proposals will be presented to the CDBG Advisory 
Board which will review and make funding recommendations for each proposal. This Board will consist of 
the following members: 
 
1. Mayor 
2. Common Council President 
3. Chairperson of the Community and Economic Development Committee or committee designee 
4. Chairperson of the Appleton Redevelopment Authority or committee designee 
5. Representative from an Experienced Outside Funding Agency – on a rotating basis (i.e. United Way, 

Community Foundation, JJ Keller Foundation, U.S. Oil Basic Needs Partnership) 
6. Citizen member from the City Plan Commission 
 
CEDD staff will supply the Board with applications and all appropriate guidelines along with a summary of 
each proposal, and an explanation of the proposal score sheet. Board members are asked to allocate funding 
among the applicants and return their allocations to CEDD staff who will compile all results and present 
allocation recommendations at a Board meeting during which allocation amounts will be finalized. In 
completing their funding recommendation, the Board will utilize an estimated CDBG entitlement award 
dollar amount, which will be calculated based on past awards and any available information on HUD’s 
future funding strategies. Funding recommendations from this Board will be presented as an Action Item to 
the CEDC. CEDC’s recommendation will then be presented to the Common Council for final approval.  
 
During efforts to prevent the spread of infectious disease and mitigate economic impacts caused by 
infectious disease, the community partner subrecipient allocation process will be waived. Final approval of 
allocations and projects will be presented to Common Council, subsequent to the completion of the 
required public comment period. 

 
K. Estimated vs. Actual Entitlement Award 

 If there is a differential between the estimated award and the actual award, the CDBG Advisory Board will 
be consulted and their recommendations will be presented to CEDC and Council for approval. 

 
L. Subrecipient Agreement/Letter of Understanding/Training Session 

Community partner subrecipients of CDBG funds must enter into a subrecipient agreement with the City of 
Appleton. This subrecipient agreement serves as a formal contract addressing the various policies outlined 
in this document, in addition to contract amount/term, reimbursement requests, accomplishment  
reporting, monitoring, financial management guidelines, conflict of interest, and additional federal standards, 
including lead-based paint regulations and the Davis Bacon Act. Furthermore, each City Program receiving 
CDBG funds must sign a Letter of Understanding (LOU) indicating an understanding of the items above. 
To ensure all parties understand the requirements of their agreement or LOU, a mandatory training session 
will be held with new subrecipients before funds are released. Technical assistance from staff will be 
available to all subrecipients throughout the program year. 

 
M. Statement of Work 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 8 of 9 

All subrecipients and City Programs shall submit a concise Statement of Work that illustrates an 
implementation plan for their CDBG activity. This Statement, which will be attached to the subrecipient 
agreement/LOU includes: national objective claimed, activity descriptions, intended beneficiaries (number 
and type), detailed budget and location(s) of program-related activity. 

 
N. Report Submissions 

All subrecipients and City Programs are required to submit a report of their accomplishments with each 
payment request during the program year when applicable, as well as an Annual Report by April 15th, which 
is a comprehensive report covering the agreed upon objectives, activities and expenditures for the entire 
contract period. If said reports are not attached to payment requests when required, payments will be 
withheld until the report is submitted.  
 

O. Change of Use 
If a subrecipient or City Program wishes to utilize funds for an activity not identified on their original 
application, they are required to submit a detailed letter to the CEDD explaining the reasoning for and 
amount of the proposed change and a public comment period may be held per the Citizen Participation 
Plan.  

 
P. Displacement/Relocation 

Due to the potential liability for long-term assistance and burdens placed on affected tenants, the City of 
Appleton will avoid funding CDBG projects that involve permanent residential displacement or business 
relocation unless displacement/relocation prove to be the only means available to correct a public 
health/safety hazard or other critical condition. 
 

Q. Procurement 
The City of Appleton Procurement Policy applies to all CDBG activities, including both City Programs and 
subrecipients that involve the purchase of equipment, materials, supplies and/or services. A copy of this 
policy will be distributed to all subrecipients. 

 
R. Audits 

All subrecipients are required to submit one copy of their audited financial statement immediately following 
the end of their fiscal year during which CDBG funds are received, unless an alternate arrangement has 
been made with the City of Appleton Finance Department. CDBG applications may include audit costs as a 
reimbursable expense. 

 
S. Disputes 

Any dispute concerning a question of fact arising under a subrecipient program or City Program shall be 
resolved by CEDD staff, who shall relay his/her decision in writing to the subrecipient or City Program, in 
addition to furnishing a copy to the Mayor and the CEDC. The decision of CEDD staff shall be final and 
conclusive unless the subrecipient or City Program furnishes a written appeal to the CEDC within ten days 
of the date of receipt of such copy. The decision of the CEDC in such appeals shall be final and conclusive 
unless appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of receipt of the CEDC’s decision. 

 
T. Unspent Grant Funds 

Any uncommitted CDBG funds remaining at the end of the program year will be reprogrammed for use in 
the subsequent program year. The subrecipient shall submit a carryover request, including both 
documentation of plans for expending funds and a timeline for the expenditure, to CEDD staff by April 15. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 9 of 9 

If any unspent grant funds remain after September 30, CEDD staff will meet with the subrecipient to 
determine if further action needs to be taken to expedite the expenditure of funds. 
 

U. Termination 
If the subrecipient or City Program fails to fulfill, in timely and proper manner, its obligations under the 
Statement of Work, or if they violate any stipulations contained within the subrecipient agreement/LOU, 
the City has the right to terminate funding of their program. Written notice will be delivered at least 30 days 
before the termination. 

 
V. Examination of Records/Monitoring 

The policy of the City of Appleton is to monitor its subrecipients in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.2, 2 CFR 200.328, and 2 CFR 200.331(d). The subrecipient and City Program 
shall maintain records (including books, documentation and other evidence) pertaining to the costs of 
carrying out their activity to the extent of detail that will adequately reflect net costs, direct and indirect 
labor, materials, equipment, supplies/services, and other expenses. Authorized representatives of the City or 
HUD shall have access to subrecipient and City Program records at reasonable times of the business day for 
inspection, audit or reproduction. Subrecipients and City Programs must make these records available 
throughout the program year and four years after it expires. Furthermore, CEDD staff may schedule 
monitoring visits with the subrecipient to evaluate the progress/performance of the program and provide 
technical assistance. The City of Appleton’s Grant Administration Procedures manual should be referenced 
for further guidance on subrecipient tracking and monitoring requirements.  

 
W. Financial Management Systems 

Subrecipients and City Programs must employ financial management systems that are capable of generating 
regular financial status reports indicating the dollar amount allocated (including budget revisions), amount 
obligated, and amount expended for each activity. The system must permit the comparison of actual 
expenditures and revenues against budgeted amounts. The City must be able to isolate/trace every CDBG 
dollar received. 
 

X. Payment Requests 
Community partner subrecipients and City Programs will submit requests for payment with attached 
supporting documentation to the CEDD. Payment requests shall be allowed on a reimbursement basis (i.e. 
only after expenditures have been incurred) and shall be reviewed to ensure the expenditures are in 
conformity with the use of funds as described in the Statement of Work. If source documentation is deemed 
inadequate by Staff, all payments will be withheld until all required documents have been submitted. 
Payment requests received and approved will be processed and a check issued in accordance with the City of 
Appleton Finance Department weekly pay cycle. All payment requests must contain an original signature.  
 

Y. Program Income 
Any program income (as defined under applicable federal regulations) gained from any activity of the 
subrecipient may be retained by the subrecipient or City Program provided the income is treated as 
additional CDBG funds subject to all applicable requirements governing the use of CDBG funds. 
Anticipated program income must be documented and described in the subrecipient or City Program 
proposal/application. Furthermore, any and all program income received must be reported to the City of 
Appleton’s Community and Economic Development and Finance Departments, unless otherwise specified 
in this contract. 

 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 10 of 9 

Z. CDBG Activity Promotion 
All subrecipients and City Programs are required to participate in promotion of the City of Appleton CDBG 
Program. Expectations will be outlined by staff at the beginning of the program year and may include, but 
are not limited to: 

• Inclusion of the Appleton/CDBG logo in materials/at project sites 

• Mentorship of a subrecipient new to the CDBG Program 

• Participation in a CDBG Open House to showcase grant activities 
 
V. APPLICATION/PROPOSAL EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
A. General 

In order to receive CDBG funding, subrecipient and City Programs must meet a priority need, as identified 
in the Five-Year Consolidated Plan. Additional preference, however, will be given to CDBG applicant 
activities that meet one or more of the following criteria: 

 

(1). Seek a one-time use of CDBG funding 
(2). Benefit residents of LMI census tracts (population at least 46.7 percent LMI) 
(3). Will result in additional housing units being placed on the tax roll 
(4). Demonstrate secured complementary sources of funding (i.e. leverage) and/or strong efforts to 

solicit and secure complementary funding. 
(5). Serve special needs populations, including, but not limited to: 

a. Elderly/frail elderly 
b. Persons with disabilities (developmental and physical) 
c. Persons with HIV/AIDS and their families 
d. Persons seeking solutions to alcohol and drug addiction 

 
B. Public Services (subject to 15 percent cap) 

Preference will be given to Public Service CDBG applicants whose activities meet one or more of the 
following criteria: 
 

(1). Program service costs – one time use 
(2). Administrative expenses – one time use 
(3). Program service costs – continual use 
(4). Administrative expenses – continual use 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

FROM: Nikki Gerhard, Community Development Specialist   

DATE:  November 10, 2021  

RE: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Policy Amendment  

 

Staff is proposing an amendment to the City’s CDBG Policy, updating policies and processes related to 

CDBG program income. 

 

The amendment addresses the following:  

 

▪ Incorporating the HUD definition of program income, per 24CFR Part 570.500; 

 

▪ Establishing a quarterly timeline for receipt of program income; 

 

▪ Identifying the process of receipting for the quarterly recording of program income. 

 

Attached is the proposed CDBG policy, with additional language highlighted in red.  

 

If you have any questions, please contact me at 832-6469 or nikki.gerhard@appleton.org. Thank you! 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

mailto:nikki.gerhard@appleton.org


City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 1 of 9 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Policy 
Adopted 9/8/2008 

Amended 5/24/2010, 10/3/2012, 12/19/2012, 7/15/2015, 10/21/2020, 11/17/2021 

 
I. PURPOSE 

To outline the following aspects of the local Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program: a) 
elements to which the City of Appleton must adhere in order to comply with federal regulations; b) locally-
established guidelines; and c) priorities for subrecipient and City Program activity. 

 
II. POLICY 

The federal CDBG program was established with the passage of the Housing and Community Development 
Act of 1974. CDBG funds are distributed to eligible governmental units in two forms:  

(1). Entitlement grants directly to cities and counties, and; 
(2). State grants, which involve annual competitions for non-entitlement communities. 

 

Since 1975, the City of Appleton has received CDBG funds as an entitlement community. The amount of 
CDBG funds received each year varies based on the appropriation approved by the U.S. Congress and the 
number of governmental units eligible to participate. While the federal fiscal year operates from October 1 
to September 30, the City selected April 1 to March 31 as its CDBG fiscal year. This selection was made as 
the federal government generally does not release the aforementioned funds until springtime. Federal 
oversight lies within the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD). 

 
III. FEDERAL REGULATIONS 

The citation reference from Title 24 Part 570 – Community Development Block Grants can be found in parentheses next to 
each heading below. Please view that section for more information on the respective item. This Policy will be revised 

periodically as required to fulfill related Federal, State, and/or local funding requirements.   
 
A. Federal Eligibility (24 CFR 570.201) 

CDBG funds may be used for the following basic eligible activities:
(1). Acquisition 
(2). Disposition  
(3). Public Facilities/Improvements 
(4). Clearance/Remediation 
(5). Public Services 
(6). Interim Assistance 
(7). Payment of Non-Federal Share 
(8). Urban Renewal Completion 
(9). Relocation 
(10). Loss of Rental Income  

(11). Housing Services 
(12). Privately-Owned Utilities 
(13). Homeownership Assistance 
(14). Economic Development Assistance 
(15). Technical Assistance 
(16). Institutions of Higher Education 
(17). Rehabilitation/Preservation (24 CFR 570.202) 
(18). Planning (24 CFR 570.205)  
(19). Administration (24 CFR 570.206)

 
B. Ineligible Activities (24 CFR 570.207) 

The following activities may not be assisted with CDBG funds: 
(1). Buildings (or portions thereof) for the General Conduct of Government 
(2). General Government Expenses 
(3). Political Activities 

 
 
 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 2 of 9 

The following activities are not eligible for CDBG funding, but may be allowed under certain circumstances:
(1). Purchase of Equipment 
(2). Operating/Maintenance Expenses 

(3). New Housing Construction 
(4). Income Payments

 
 
C. Special Economic Development Projects (24 CFR 570.203) 

CDBG funds may be used for special economic development activities in addition to other activities.  
Special economic development activities include: 

 

(1). Acquisition, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or installation of commercial or industrial 
buildings, structures, and other real property equipment and improvements 

(2). Assistance to a private for-profit business, including, but not limited to, grants, loans, loan 
guarantees, interest supplements, technical assistance, and other forms of support, for any activity 
where the assistance is appropriate to carry out an economic development project 

(3). Economic development services, including, but not limited to, outreach efforts; screening of 
applicants; reviewing/underwriting applications; preparation of all necessary agreements; 
management of activities; and the screening, referral, and placement of applicants for employment 

 
D. National Objectives (24 CFR 570.208) 

In order to qualify for funding, activities must meet one of three CDBG national objectives: 
 

(1). Low & Moderate Income (LMI) Benefit  
a. Area Benefit: activities available for the benefit of all the residents in a particular area, where at 

least 51 percent of those residents are LMI persons. 
b. Limited Clientele: activities benefiting a specific group (i.e. abused children, elderly persons, 

battered spouses), at least 51 percent of whom are LMI persons. 
c. Housing: activities carried out for the purpose of providing or improving permanent 

residential structures that, upon completion, will be occupied by LMI households. 
d. Job Creation/Retention: activities designed to create or retain permanent jobs where at least 51 

percent of the jobs involve the employment of LMI persons. 
 

(2). Slum & Blight Removal 
a. Area Basis: activities undertaken to eliminate specific conditions of blight, physical decay, or 

environmental contamination that are located in a designated area of distress, including 
acquisition, clearance, relocation, historic preservation, remediation of environmentally 
contaminated properties, or rehabilitation. Rehabilitation must eliminate conditions that are 
detrimental to public health/safety; acquisition and relocation must be precursors to other 
activities that eliminate blight. 

b. Spot Basis: activities undertaken to eliminate specific conditions of blight, physical decay, or 
environmental contamination at specific sites not located in designated blighted areas, 
including acquisition, clearance, relocation, historic preservation, remediation of 
environmentally contaminated properties, or rehabilitation. Rehabilitation must eliminate 
conditions that are detrimental to public health/safety; acquisition and relocation must be 
precursors to other activities that eliminate blight. 

 

(3). Urgent Need  
a. Activities designed to alleviate existing conditions of recent origin (18 months) that pose 

serious threats to the health and welfare of the community; this objective may only be used if 
the community cannot finance necessary activities with other sources. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 3 of 9 

E. Categorical Limits 
(1). At least 70 percent of CDBG funds utilized during three consecutive program years, as specified by 

the grantee, must be expended for LMI benefit; the costs of planning and program administration 
are excluded from this calculation. (24 CFR 570.200(a)(3)) 

(2). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for public service activities in each program year may not 
exceed 15 percent of the total entitlement grant for that program year, plus 15 percent of the 
program income received during the preceding program year. (24 CFR 570.201(e)(1)) 

(3). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for planning and administration activities in each program 
year may not exceed 20 percent of the total entitlement grant for that program year plus the 
program income received during that program year. (24 CFR 570.200(g)) 

 
F. Program Income (24 CFR 570.426) 

The City may reuse any revenue generated from projects undertaken with CDBG funding towards other 
eligible activities within the entitlement community. Furthermore, any program income earned by a 
subrecipient or City Program may be retained by the subrecipient or City Program provided the income is 
treated as additional CDBG funds and thus subject to all applicable federal and local requirements. 
 
As defined in 24CFR Part 570.500, program income includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

• Proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real property purchased or improved with 
CDBG funds; 

• Proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with CDBG funds; 

• Gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired by subrecipients with CDBG 
funds, less costs incidental to generation of the income; 

• Gross income from the use or rental of real property, owned by subrecipients that was constructed or 
improved with CDBG funds, less costs incidental to generation of the income; 

• Payments of principal and interest on loans made using CDBG funds, except as provided in 24CFR 
570.500(a)(3); and 

• Interest earned on program income pending its disposition. 
 
Program income must be tracked in a chart of accounts, using a segregated account for managing sources 
and uses. By the 15th day of the month following the end of the quarter, the City’s Finance Department will 
review each transaction that generated program income and the subsequent transaction for which program 
income was applied. The program income will then be entered into the City’s Chart of Accounts so that it is 
reflected in the general ledger, as well as receipting the program income in IDIS so that draws can be made 
against the balance accordingly. The City maintains the discretion to enter program income more frequently 
as deemed necessary. 
 
CDBG regulations require that, at the end of each program year (March 31), the City of Appleton must 
determine whether there is excess program income on hand, and return any excess to the line of credit.  

 
G. Fair Housing (24 CFR 570.601) 

The Secretary of HUD requires that: 
 

(1). Grantees must administer all activities related to housing and community development in a manner 
to affirmatively further the policies of the Fair Housing Act. (Public Law 90-284) 

(2). Entitlement communities shall conduct an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice every 
five years, take action to overcome the effects of the identified impediments and maintain records 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 4 of 9 

reflecting the analysis and related actions taken. 
 
H. Environmental Review Procedures (24 CFR 570.604) 

The environmental review procedures outlined in 24 CFR part 58 must be completed for each CDBG 
subrecipient and City Program activity, as applicable. 

 
I. Faith-Based Activities (24 CFR 570.200) 

Religious or faith-based organizations are eligible to participate in the CDBG program. Local government 
representatives and CDBG program administrators shall not discriminate against an organization on the 
basis of its religious affiliation. 
 

J. Submission Requirements (24 CFR 570.302) 
CDBG entitlement communities must submit the following documents: 

(1). Action Plan → annually 

(2). Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) → annually 

(3). Consolidated Plan → every three to five years, as chosen by the entitlement community 
Creation of these documents must follow HUD requirements for content and citizen participation (see the 
City of Appleton CDBG Citizen Participation Plan). 

 
K. Location of Activities (24 CFR 570.309) 

CDBG funds may be awarded to an activity outside the jurisdiction of the entitlement community only if it 
can be determined that the activity directly benefits the entitlement community’s residents. Documentation 
of these benefits must be provided before CDBG funds are awarded for the activity. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 5 of 9 

L. Conflict of Interest (24 CFR 570.611) 
No persons affiliated with the entitlement community (including subrecipients and City Programs) who 
exercise or have exercised any responsibilities with respect to CDBG programming, or who are in a position 
to participate in a decision-making process, may obtain a financial interest or benefit from a CDBG-assisted 
activity (including subcontracts), either for themselves or those with whom they have business or immediate 
family ties, during their tenure or for one year thereafter. 

 
IV. LOCAL PROGRAM GUIDELINES  
 
A. Program Oversight 

The Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) – composed of five aldermen appointed 
by the Mayor – serves as the jurisdiction for Common Council oversight of the CDBG Program. Local 
financial oversight lies with the City of Appleton Finance Department. Local administrative/programmatic 
oversight lies with the City of Appleton Community and Economic Development Department (CEDD). 

 
B. Consolidated Plan Submission 

The City of Appleton has elected to submit a Consolidated Plan to HUD every five years. The Citizen 
Participation Plan provides for and encourages citizens to participate in the development of the 
Consolidated Plan, which will begin approximately one year before the required submittal date. 

 
C. Definitions 

• Subrecipient – an entity charged with implementation of one or more activities funded with 
Appleton CDBG dollars 

▪ community partner subrecipient – local agencies awarded CDBG-funding to implement an 
eligible activity via a competitive application process 

▪ public services subrecipient – local agencies awarded CDBG-funding to implement an 
eligible public service activity via a competitive application process 

• Adjusted award – the amount of CDBG funds available to City Programs and subrecipients after 
administration, fair housing, and audit allocations are deducted 

 
D. Local Categorical Limits 

The following limits expand upon federal categorical limits associated with the CDBG program: 
 

(1). At least 70 percent of CDBG funds utilized over three program years must be expended for LMI 
benefit; this excludes planning/CDBG administration activities. 

(2). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for public service activities in each program year may not 
exceed 15 percent of the adjusted award for that year unless otherwise specified under the pertinent 
Federal regulation or applicable waivers to prevent the spread of infectious disease and mitigate economic 
impacts caused by infectious disease. 

(3). The amount of CDBG funds obligated for planning/CDBG administration activities in each 
program year may not exceed 20 percent of the total entitlement grant for that year. 

(4). Any single award will not be less than $10,000. 
 
E.  Audit Requirements 

Section 2 Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations and the State Single Audit Guidelines require major 
state programs and federal programs to complete a single audit. The necessary amount for fulfilling these 
requirements will be identified by the Finance Department and the City’s independent auditors. This 
amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available for the program year and not included in the 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 6 of 9 

estimates of the adjusted award. 
 
F. Fair Housing Services 

In keeping with the spirit of federal fair housing requirements, an annual allocation for fair housing services 
will be approved. This activity will be reported as an administrative expense, which claims no benefit. The 
City of Appleton will utilize the award to contract with an independent entity qualified to provide residents 
with a variety of fair housing services. This amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available 
for the program year and not included in the estimates of the adjusted award. 
 

G. Program Administration 
HUD requires entitlement communities to provide for efficient and adequate administration of CDBG 
programming. Administration costs may only include: salary/fringe, necessary training/travel, supplies and 
telephone/postage, in addition to fair housing services and audit costs. The necessary amount for fulfilling 
this requirement will be identified by the Community and Economic Development and Finance 
Departments. This amount will be deducted from the estimated amount available for the program year and 
not included in the estimates of the adjusted award.  

 
H. Annual Allocation of CDBG Funding 

The City of Appleton’s Program Year begins April 1 and concludes March 31 of the following year. Each 
program year, administration, audit and fair housing costs, along with adequate funding for the Homeowner 
Rehabilitation Loan Program, the Neighborhood Program and Appleton Housing Authority will be 
subtracted from the annual entitlement award amount to determine the adjusted award. The adjusted award 
will first be available to City of Appleton Departments/Programs/component units that wish to undertake 
projects. After the City allocation process is complete, any remaining funds may be allocated to community 
partner applicants.   

 
I. City Allocation Process 

Each year adequate funding will be allocated through the City Budget process to the following: Homeowner 
Rehabilitation Loan Program, Neighborhood Program, Administration Costs and Appleton Housing 
Authority. Then, other City of Appleton Departments will have the opportunity to submit an application for 
CDBG funding. The application will include information relating to goals, outputs, budget/financing, 
detailed activity descriptions, capacity and performance. CEDD staff, per HUD rules and regulations, will 
perform an administrative review of each plan to ensure that: 
 

1. Proposed activities are included within the listing of eligible activities (24 CFR 570.201) 
2. Proposed activities do not fall within a category of explicitly ineligible activities (24 CFR 570.207) 
3. Proposed activities will meet one of the national objectives of the program (24 CFR 570.200) 
4. Proposed activities will address priority needs as identified in the Consolidated Plan 

 
Upon completion of the administrative review, the plans will be presented to the CEDC. CEDC will also 
review the submitted plans to ensure the proposed activities meet the four standards listed above and 
allocate adequate funds for each plan. CEDC’s recommendation will then be presented to the Common 
Council for approval. 

 
J. Community Partner Subrecipient Allocation Process 

The community partner application process will begin after allocations for City applications have been 
approved, and end with recommended allocations being announced after Council approval. Applications 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 7 of 9 

will be made available for approximately one month and should be submitted to the CEDD. All applications 
must be received by the announced deadline; no exceptions will be made. CEDD staff will perform an 
administrative review of each proposal, per HUD rules and regulations, to ensure the four standards listed 
under letter E. above, will be met if proposed activities are funded.  
 
Upon completion of the administrative review, the proposals will be presented to the CDBG Advisory 
Board which will review and make funding recommendations for each proposal. This Board will consist of 
the following members: 
 
1. Mayor 
2. Common Council President 
3. Chairperson of the Community and Economic Development Committee or committee designee 
4. Chairperson of the Appleton Redevelopment Authority or committee designee 
5. Representative from an Experienced Outside Funding Agency – on a rotating basis (i.e. United Way, 

Community Foundation, JJ Keller Foundation, U.S. Oil Basic Needs Partnership) 
6. Citizen member from the City Plan Commission 
 
CEDD staff will supply the Board with applications and all appropriate guidelines along with a summary of 
each proposal, and an explanation of the proposal score sheet. Board members are asked to allocate funding 
among the applicants and return their allocations to CEDD staff who will compile all results and present 
allocation recommendations at a Board meeting during which allocation amounts will be finalized. In 
completing their funding recommendation, the Board will utilize an estimated CDBG entitlement award 
dollar amount, which will be calculated based on past awards and any available information on HUD’s 
future funding strategies. Funding recommendations from this Board will be presented as an Action Item to 
the CEDC. CEDC’s recommendation will then be presented to the Common Council for final approval.  
 
During efforts to prevent the spread of infectious disease and mitigate economic impacts caused by 
infectious disease, the community partner subrecipient allocation process will be waived. Final approval of 
allocations and projects will be presented to Common Council, subsequent to the completion of the 
required public comment period. 

 
K. Estimated vs. Actual Entitlement Award 

 If there is a differential between the estimated award and the actual award, the CDBG Advisory Board will 
be consulted and their recommendations will be presented to CEDC and Council for approval. 

 
L. Subrecipient Agreement/Letter of Understanding/Training Session 

Community partner subrecipients of CDBG funds must enter into a subrecipient agreement with the City of 
Appleton. This subrecipient agreement serves as a formal contract addressing the various policies outlined 
in this document, in addition to contract amount/term, reimbursement requests, accomplishment  
reporting, monitoring, financial management guidelines, conflict of interest, and additional federal standards, 
including lead-based paint regulations and the Davis Bacon Act. Furthermore, each City Program receiving 
CDBG funds must sign a Letter of Understanding (LOU) indicating an understanding of the items above. 
To ensure all parties understand the requirements of their agreement or LOU, a mandatory training session 
will be held with new subrecipients before funds are released. Technical assistance from staff will be 
available to all subrecipients throughout the program year. 

 
M. Statement of Work 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 8 of 9 

All subrecipients and City Programs shall submit a concise Statement of Work that illustrates an 
implementation plan for their CDBG activity. This Statement, which will be attached to the subrecipient 
agreement/LOU includes: national objective claimed, activity descriptions, intended beneficiaries (number 
and type), detailed budget and location(s) of program-related activity. 

 
N. Report Submissions 

All subrecipients and City Programs are required to submit a report of their accomplishments with each 
payment request during the program year when applicable, as well as an Annual Report by April 15th, which 
is a comprehensive report covering the agreed upon objectives, activities and expenditures for the entire 
contract period. If said reports are not attached to payment requests when required, payments will be 
withheld until the report is submitted.  
 

O. Change of Use 
If a subrecipient or City Program wishes to utilize funds for an activity not identified on their original 
application, they are required to submit a detailed letter to the CEDD explaining the reasoning for and 
amount of the proposed change and a public comment period may be held per the Citizen Participation 
Plan.  

 
P. Displacement/Relocation 

Due to the potential liability for long-term assistance and burdens placed on affected tenants, the City of 
Appleton will avoid funding CDBG projects that involve permanent residential displacement or business 
relocation unless displacement/relocation prove to be the only means available to correct a public 
health/safety hazard or other critical condition. 
 

Q. Procurement 
The City of Appleton Procurement Policy applies to all CDBG activities, including both City Programs and 
subrecipients that involve the purchase of equipment, materials, supplies and/or services. A copy of this 
policy will be distributed to all subrecipients. 

 
R. Audits 

All subrecipients are required to submit one copy of their audited financial statement immediately following 
the end of their fiscal year during which CDBG funds are received, unless an alternate arrangement has 
been made with the City of Appleton Finance Department. CDBG applications may include audit costs as a 
reimbursable expense. 

 
S. Disputes 

Any dispute concerning a question of fact arising under a subrecipient program or City Program shall be 
resolved by CEDD staff, who shall relay his/her decision in writing to the subrecipient or City Program, in 
addition to furnishing a copy to the Mayor and the CEDC. The decision of CEDD staff shall be final and 
conclusive unless the subrecipient or City Program furnishes a written appeal to the CEDC within ten days 
of the date of receipt of such copy. The decision of the CEDC in such appeals shall be final and conclusive 
unless appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of receipt of the CEDC’s decision. 

 
T. Unspent Grant Funds 

Any uncommitted CDBG funds remaining at the end of the program year will be reprogrammed for use in 
the subsequent program year. The subrecipient shall submit a carryover request, including both 
documentation of plans for expending funds and a timeline for the expenditure, to CEDD staff by April 15. 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 9 of 9 

If any unspent grant funds remain after September 30, CEDD staff will meet with the subrecipient to 
determine if further action needs to be taken to expedite the expenditure of funds. 
 

U. Termination 
If the subrecipient or City Program fails to fulfill, in timely and proper manner, its obligations under the 
Statement of Work, or if they violate any stipulations contained within the subrecipient agreement/LOU, 
the City has the right to terminate funding of their program. Written notice will be delivered at least 30 days 
before the termination. 

 
V. Examination of Records/Monitoring 

The policy of the City of Appleton is to monitor its subrecipients in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of 24 CFR 570.2, 2 CFR 200.328, and 2 CFR 200.331(d). The subrecipient and City Program 
shall maintain records (including books, documentation and other evidence) pertaining to the costs of 
carrying out their activity to the extent of detail that will adequately reflect net costs, direct and indirect 
labor, materials, equipment, supplies/services, and other expenses. Authorized representatives of the City or 
HUD shall have access to subrecipient and City Program records at reasonable times of the business day for 
inspection, audit or reproduction. Subrecipients and City Programs must make these records available 
throughout the program year and four years after it expires. Furthermore, CEDD staff may schedule 
monitoring visits with the subrecipient to evaluate the progress/performance of the program and provide 
technical assistance. The City of Appleton’s Grant Administration Procedures manual should be referenced 
for further guidance on subrecipient tracking and monitoring requirements.  

 
W. Financial Management Systems 

Subrecipients and City Programs must employ financial management systems that are capable of generating 
regular financial status reports indicating the dollar amount allocated (including budget revisions), amount 
obligated, and amount expended for each activity. The system must permit the comparison of actual 
expenditures and revenues against budgeted amounts. The City must be able to isolate/trace every CDBG 
dollar received. 
 

X. Payment Requests 
Community partner subrecipients and City Programs will submit requests for payment with attached 
supporting documentation to the CEDD. Payment requests shall be allowed on a reimbursement basis (i.e. 
only after expenditures have been incurred) and shall be reviewed to ensure the expenditures are in 
conformity with the use of funds as described in the Statement of Work. If source documentation is deemed 
inadequate by Staff, all payments will be withheld until all required documents have been submitted. 
Payment requests received and approved will be processed and a check issued in accordance with the City of 
Appleton Finance Department weekly pay cycle. All payment requests must contain an original signature.  
 

Y. Program Income 
Any program income (as defined under applicable federal regulations) gained from any activity of the 
subrecipient may be retained by the subrecipient or City Program provided the income is treated as 
additional CDBG funds subject to all applicable requirements governing the use of CDBG funds. 
Anticipated program income must be documented and described in the subrecipient or City Program 
proposal/application. Furthermore, any and all program income received must be reported to the City of 
Appleton’s Community and Economic Development and Finance Departments, unless otherwise specified 
in this contract. 

 



City of Appleton 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

 

 

Page 10 of 9 

Z. CDBG Activity Promotion 
All subrecipients and City Programs are required to participate in promotion of the City of Appleton CDBG 
Program. Expectations will be outlined by staff at the beginning of the program year and may include, but 
are not limited to: 

• Inclusion of the Appleton/CDBG logo in materials/at project sites 

• Mentorship of a subrecipient new to the CDBG Program 

• Participation in a CDBG Open House to showcase grant activities 
 
V. APPLICATION/PROPOSAL EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
A. General 

In order to receive CDBG funding, subrecipient and City Programs must meet a priority need, as identified 
in the Five-Year Consolidated Plan. Additional preference, however, will be given to CDBG applicant 
activities that meet one or more of the following criteria: 

 

(1). Seek a one-time use of CDBG funding 
(2). Benefit residents of LMI census tracts (population at least 46.7 percent LMI) 
(3). Will result in additional housing units being placed on the tax roll 
(4). Demonstrate secured complementary sources of funding (i.e. leverage) and/or strong efforts to 

solicit and secure complementary funding. 
(5). Serve special needs populations, including, but not limited to: 

a. Elderly/frail elderly 
b. Persons with disabilities (developmental and physical) 
c. Persons with HIV/AIDS and their families 
d. Persons seeking solutions to alcohol and drug addiction 

 
B. Public Services (subject to 15 percent cap) 

Preference will be given to Public Service CDBG applicants whose activities meet one or more of the 
following criteria: 
 

(1). Program service costs – one time use 
(2). Administrative expenses – one time use 
(3). Program service costs – continual use 
(4). Administrative expenses – continual use 



 

   

 

 

 

 
TO: Community and Economic Development Committee 
  
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist 
 
DATE: November 10, 2021 

RE: Planning Option Agreement Extension for the Blue Ramp Site – Merge, LLC  

 
 
The City of Appleton entered into a Planning Option Agreement with Merge, LLC to 
provide a 9-month initial term to conduct due diligence for a potential mixed-use 
development on the Blue Ramp and Conway Hotel sites on March 1, 2020.  In return for 
this option Merge paid the City $1,000.   
 
This Option was mutually extended to May 31, 2021.  Per Section 2 of the Original Option, 
Merge, LLC paid the City an additional $5,000 for the first mutually extended 6-month 
extension; a second extension reflects the same option fee of an additional $5,000.  The 
City and Merge entered into a Development Agreement for the Conway Hotel site on 
September 9, 2021, and Merge closed on the purchase of the Conway Hotel site on 
October 7, 2021.  Construction on Phase I is scheduled to begin in Spring 2022. 
 
Merge has submitted a TIF Application for Phase II (Former Blue Ramp Site) and is 
working with staff to finalize a Development Agreement; however, it will not be approved 
and signed by the time the current Option expires (November 30, 2021).  Merge Urban 
Development Group would like the continued assurance that the City would be interested 
in selling these parcels for a mixed-use development that is aligned with our 
Comprehensive Plan.  In return for a 1-month extension, Merge would pay an additional 
$1,000 option fee for the Blue Ramp site. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
An extension to the Planning Option Agreement for the Blue Ramp site through December 
31, 2021 to Merge, LLC BE APPROVED.   

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

























    PROPOSED REVISIONS TO 
WEIGHTS AND MEASURES FEE SCHEDULE 

 
 
Base rates for Appleton Health Department Environmental Health and Weights & Measures fees 
were established in an independent Study authorized and funded by the Common Council in 
1993. The final report was referred to as the Griffith Study.  
 
Annually since 1993 we have evaluated the actual cost of services provided, reviewed our current 
fees for those services rendered, and made recommendations for increases where justified. The 
Board of Health has acted upon and approved these recommendations when submitted. 
 
In recent years we have used the federally established and nationally recognized Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) as the factor in determining appropriate fee increases.  
 
In 2003 we did an exhaustive study of the Weights and Measures Section to evaluate feasibility 
and costs of contracting with several area municipalities. From this study and with the assistance 
of John Hoft-March of our Finance Department, we  recalculated our actual operating cost for 
operations within the City of Appleton. These figures are now updated annually. 
 
Our device license fee rates are based upon the standardized, average amount of time spent to 
inspect, test and certify a device times the current operating cost per hour. With the new hourly 
rate and with special consideration to each fee I have developed the new Recommended Fees 
shown. Weights and Measures fees are calculated to the nearest whole dollar amount.  
 
With the rate changes submitted we estimate a revenue increase of $2,300 or approximately 
3.7%.  
 
                                                                                      Respectfully submitted, 
 
                                                                                      APPLETON HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 
 
 
                                                                                      Eric Maggio, Chief Sealer 
                                                                                      Weights and Measures 
 



APPLETON HEALTH DEPARTMENT – Weights and Measures 
100 NORTH APPLETON STREET, APPLETON WI  54911-4799 

920-832-6429 FAX 920-832-5853

PROPOSED REVISIONS TO 
WEIGHTS AND MEASURES FEE SCHEDULE 

NO. 
OF 
FEE 

LICENSEABLE ITEM 
DESCRIPTION 

CURRENT FEE AVERAGE 
CITY LICENSE 

FEE 2021* 
 RECOMMENDED 

FEE 
DOLLAR 
CHANGE 

Number 
Of Device 

1 Base Licensing 
Processing Fee $45.00 $81.67 $45.00 0 

2 Portion Scale – Low 
Capacity $11.00 $17.50 $11.00 0 

3 Scales 0 – 30 lbs $19.00 $32.71 $20.00 0 
4 Scales 31 – 1000 lbs $32.00 $54.50 $33.00 0 
5 Scales 1001 – 10,000 lbs $53.00 $65.11 $53.00 0 
6 Scales 10,001 – 20,000 

lbs $70.00 $76.13 $70.00 0 
7 Point of Sale Systems $20.00 $32.71 $20.00 0 
8 Prepack Scale $20.00 $32.71 $20.00 0 
9 Person Weighing Scale $30.00 $30.45 $30.00       0 

10 
High Accuracy Scale with 
Weights or Pill Counter 
System 

$45.00 $56.19 $45.00 0 
11 Hopper Scales $110.00 $119.35 $110.00        0 
12 Linear Meter $15.00 $15.75 $15.00        0 
13 Rules $3.00 $3.15 $3.00 0 
14 Timing Device $8.00 $16.43 $8.00 0 
15 Petroleum Pump $20.00 $34.40 $22.00    $2.00 870 
16 Vehicle Tank and Bulk 

Meter $40.00 $81.00 $45.00 $5.00 110 
17 Postal Scales $11.00        $15.00 $11.00 0 
18 Estimating Dough Scale 

and Weights $14.00 $32.71 $14.00 0 
19 Firewood Dealer $20.00 No Others $20.00 0 

20 Retail Price Scanner 
1 – 8 $60.00 

9 or more 
$7.50 each 

$22.00 Each 
1 – 8      $60.00 
9 or more $7.50 

each 
0 

21 
Unclassified Devices and 
Consultations to 
Government and Industry 

$52.00 
Per Hour Not Available $52.00 

Per Hour 0 
22 Late Payment Fee $60.00 $94.33 $60.00 
23 Penalty Fee for 

Nonregistration 
Triple the Per 
Device Fee Not Available Triple the Per 

Device Fee 0 
24 Taxi Meters $19.00 $18.90 $19.00 0 
25 Farm Market Scale No Charge $32.71 $19.00 0 

  26 Reinspection Fee $50.00 $100.00 $58.00 0 
  27 Reinspection Fee 2nd Visit N/A N/A $100.00 0 
  28 Reinspection Fee 3rd Vist N/A N/A $150.00 0 

Note:  Last fee increase was in September 2019 
*Cities (Green Bay, De Pere, Menasha, Milwaukee, and Oshkosh)



























1

Jessica L. Titel

From: Vered Meltzer

Sent: Friday, October 29, 2021 7:05 PM

To: Jessica L. Titel

Subject: "Collective" Sculpture

 

Please forward this to the Appleton Public Arts Committee. Thank you! 

 

 
Sent from my Galaxy 

 

 

-------- Original message -------- 

From: Lesley McKee <mckee.lesley@gmail.com>  

Date: 10/29/21 6:43 PM (GMT-06:00)  

To: Vered Meltzer <District2@Appleton.org>  

Subject: Re: Appleton, WI: Contact Your Alderpersons email  

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking 

links, especially from unknown senders. 

Vered -  My husband, Charles, and I are very much in favor of supporting those who wish keep the Collective in place 

until the proper arrangements can be made to ship it to its new home.  We will try to make it to the meeting, but in case 

not, please express our opinions for us.  

 

Lesley McKee 



1

Jessica L. Titel

From: Vered Meltzer

Sent: Saturday, October 30, 2021 3:57 PM

To: Jessica L. Titel

Subject: Fw: Sculpture

Please share this with the Public Arts Committee. Thank you! 

 

Vered Meltzer 
Alderperson, Appleton District 2 

(Pronouns: he, him, his) 
920-809-6669 
facebook.com/votevered 

 
Please note: Wisconsin has a very broad public records law.  Most written communications to or from government 
employees and officials regarding city/county business are public records available to the public and media upon 
request.  Your e-mail communication may be subject to public disclosure.  

From: Mark D. Breseman <mark.d.breseman@lawrence.edu> 

Sent: Friday, October 29, 2021 8:10 PM 

To: Vered Meltzer <District2@Appleton.org> 

Subject: Re: Sculpture  

  

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking 

links, especially from unknown senders. 

I fully support the sculpture staying there until the end of April! 

Mark Breseman   

Lawrence University  

920-419-6675 

 

 

 







1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pursuant to Section 9-77 of the Municipal Code and Section V. Procedures of the current General Policy 

Statement on Beer/Liquor Licensing, the Community and Economic Development Department 

investigation determines the following: 

 

Outdoor Dining Request With or Without Alcohol Service 

1. Currently, the site has 128 off-street parking spaces to accommodate customer and employee 

parking for the Atlas Mill building and Fratello’s Riverfront Restaurant.  In accordance with 

Sections 23-42(c) and 23-172(m) of the Zoning Ordinance, all existing off-street parking spaces 

shall be maintained as parking spaces.  The proposed expansion of the outdoor dining into the 10 

off-street parking spaces (highlighted green) located on the west side of the building will cause a 

deficiency of 10 parking spaces on the site.   

 

2. The proposed expansion of the outdoor dining into the interior parking lot landscape island 

(highlighted green) located on the west side of the building will cause a deficiency in the required 

amount of interior parking lot landscape islands.  In accordance with Section 23-172(f)(1)a. of the 

Zoning Ordinance, the interior parking lot landscape islands shall be maintained as is for their 

intended purpose. 

 

Recommendation:  Based on the above findings, staff recommends the request for alcohol license 

permanent premise amendment for the expansion of the outdoor dining with or without alcohol service 

within the 10 off-street parking spaces and the interior parking lot landscape islands (highlighted green) 

be DENIED because request causes the property to be NOT incompliance with Section(s) 23-42(c), 23-

172(m) and 23-172(f)(1)a. of the Zoning Ordinance as specified above.  

 

Interior Expansion Within Unit 1 

3. Special Use Permit #01-06 was transferred to River Tyme Bistro on January 20, 2020 (see 

attached).  Condition Number 2 of said transfer states, “ Any future expansions into any area of 

building/property not part of this approval for the purpose of serving and/or consumption of 

REPORT TO SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Meeting Date:  October 27, 2021 

 

Premise Amendment Request Received from City Clerk’s Office: 

October 11, 2021 

 

Item:  Reserve "Class B" Liquor and Class "B" Beer License Permanent 

Premise Amendment Application for Fox River Boat Holdings Co. d/b/a 

River Tyme Bistro, Candice Mortara, Agent, Located at 425 W. Water 

Street Unit 100  

 

From:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

Community  

and Economic 

Development 



2 | P a g e  

 

alcohol will require a new Special Use Permit application or a minor amendment request to be 

applied for and approved.” 

 

Note:  A new Special Use Permit has not been applied for by the owner/applicant.  Approval of a 

new Special Use Permit for a restaurant with alcohol sales is required prior to the issuance of 

the amended liquor license. 

  

Section III of the General Policy Statement on Beer/Liquor Licensing states, “Where required, no 

corporation, partnership or individual will be issued a beer/liquor license for the premises until a 

Special Use Permit application has been submitted.  This would allow for the Community and 

Economic Development Department to review and determine whether or not the applicant must 

apply for and receive approval of a Special Use Permit pursuant to the current Zoning Code.” 

 

Recommendation:  Based on the above findings, the owner/applicant shall apply for and receive 

approval of a new Special Use Permit from the Common Council prior to the issuance of the 

request to expand alcohol service into the remaining area of Unit 1 located inside the building and 

the expanded outdoor premises area in compliance with all applicable Municipal Codes.   

 

We recommend applicant/owner contact the Community and Economic Development Department 

at (920) 832-6468 to discuss the Special Use Permit approval process and assist with working out 

a solution to develop a proposal that satisfies the applicable Municipal Code regulations regarding 

the outdoor dining area. 

 



















76-21 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 
OF APPLETON AND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP WHICH IS A PART THEREOF, BY 
MAKING THE FOLLOWING CHANGES IN THE DISTRICT AS NOW PROVIDED. 

(City Plan Commission 11-17-2021) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1: That Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton and the Official Zoning Map, which is a part thereof, is amended by making the following 

changes: 

To rezone lands included in the “Lighting Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way) 
Annexation”, generally located in the vicinity of North Lightning Drive and East 
Edgewood Drive intersection and north thereof, from temporary AG Agricultural 
District to P-I Public Institutional District. (Rezoning #11-21 – Lightning 
Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way) Annexation) 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
 
A part of the Fractional Southwest ¼ of Section 6, Township 21 North, Range 18 East, 
City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 551,568 Square Feet 
12.6622 acres of land and being further described as follows: 
Commencing at the South ¼ corner of said Section 6; 
Thence South 00°15'22" West 41.25 feet coincident with the current City of Appleton 
corporate limits; 
Thence South 89°44'38" West 1,312.94 feet coincident with the current City of Appleton 
corporate limits; 
Thence North 00°09'19" West 695.75 feet coincident with the current City of Appleton 
corporate limits to the Westerly boundary of Transportation Project Plat No: 0000-0G-
17-4.02;; 
Thence North 00°27'27" East 27.61 feet coincident with said Westerly boundary of 
Transportation Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02 to a North line thereof; 
Thence Southeasterly 162.67 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
230.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 61°16'46" East 159.30 feet coincident 
with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence South 79°18'14" East 46.36 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence North 56°36'28" East 28.01 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 



Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence North 58°51'13" East 127.60 feet; 
Thence North 56°36'28" East 300.63 feet; 
Thence Northeasterly 602.86 feet along the arc of curve to the left having a radius of 
965.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 38°42'38" East 593.11 feet; 
Thence North 89°51'14" West 156.83 feet to the Southeast corner of Outlot 10 of Apple 
Ridge 2; 
Thence North 13°52'54" East 307.18 feet coincident with the East line of Outlot 10 of 
Apple Ridge 2; 
Thence North 03°30'35" West 188.39 feet coincident with the East line of Outlot 10 of 
Apple Ridge 2 to the Southerly line of Baldeagle Drive; 
Thence North 76°55'16" East 145.11 feet; 
Thence Northwesterly 201.39 feet along the arc of curve to the left having a radius of 
965.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 16°31'22" West 201.02 feet; 
Thence Northerly 408.87 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
1,035.00 feet and the chord of which bears North 11°11'03" West 406.21 feet; 
Thence North 00°07'58" East 192.71 feet to the North line of the Fractional SW ¼ of said 
Section 6;  
Thence South 89°27'19" East 70.00 feet coincident with the North line of the Fractional 
SW ¼ of said Section 6; 
Thence South 00°07'58" West 192.20 feet; 
Thence Southerly 381.21 feet along the arc of curve to the left having a radius of 965.00 
feet and the chord of which bears South 11°11'03" East 378.74 feet; 
Thence Southerly 1,429.04 feet along the arc of a curve to the right having a radius of 
1,035.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 17°03'12" West 1,318.20 feet; 
Thence South 56°36'28" West 300.63 feet; 
Thence South 54°21'43" West 127.60 feet; 
Thence South 56°36'28" West 85.86 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence Southwesterly 41.28 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
310.00 feet and the chord of which bears South 52°49'13" West 41.25 feet coincident 
with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence Southeasterly 241.12 feet along the arc of a curve to the left having a radius of 
238.50 feet and the chord of which bears South 61°43'30" East 230.98 feet coincident 
with the boundary of Transportation Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence South 00°28'26" West 266.19 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence North 89°44'38" East 214.97 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence South 00°28'26" West 35.00 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 



Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02; 
Thence North 89°44'38" East 751.25 feet coincident with the boundary of Transportation 
Project Plat  
No: 0000-0G-17-4.02 to the East line of the Fractional SW ¼ of said Section 6;  
Thence South 00°27'14" West 61.25 feet coincident with the East line of the Fractional 
SW ¼ of said Section 6 to the point of beginning. 
 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
 
Lands included in the “Lightning Drive/C.T.H. JJ (Right-of-Way) Annexation”, generally 
located in the vicinity of N. Lightning Drive and E. Edgewood Drive intersection and 
north thereof. 

 
Section 2: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication, and upon its passage and publication the Director of Community and Economic 

Development is authorized and directed to make the necessary changes to the Official Zoning Map 

in accordance with this Ordinance. 

77-21 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 
OF APPLETON AND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP WHICH IS A PART THEREOF, BY 
MAKING THE FOLLOWING CHANGES IN THE DISTRICT AS NOW PROVIDED. 

(City Plan Commission 11-17-2021) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1: That Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton and the Official Zoning Map, which is a part thereof, is amended by making the following 

changes: 

To rezone lands located at N2883 County Road EE, Tax Id Number 31-1-9315-00, 
included in the “Ziegler Mackville Road & EE Annexation” including to the 
centerline of the adjacent N. Ballard Road right-of-way, from temporary AG 
Agricultural District to R-1B Single-Family District. (Rezoning #12-21 – Ziegler 
Mackville Road & EE Annexation) 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
 



A part of the Northeast ¼ of the Northeast ¼ of Section 36, Township 22 North, Range 
17 East, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, containing 62,759 Square Feet 
1.4407 acres of land and being further described as follows: 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Section 36; 
Thence South 00°06’21” West 117.18 feet coincident with the East line of the Northeast 
¼ of said Section 36 to the point of beginning; 
Thence continue South 00°06’21” West 222.82 feet coincident with the East line of the 
Northeast ¼ of said Section 36 to the South line of lands described in Warranty Deed 
Document No. 679131 of the Outagamie County Register of Deeds Office; 
Thence North 89°51’03” West 225.00 feet coincident with the South line of lands 
described in Warranty Deed Document No. 679131 of the Outagamie County Register of 
Deeds Office; 
Thence North 00°06’21” East 307.00 feet coincident with the West line of lands 
described in Warranty Deed Document No. 679131 and then the West line of lands 
described in Warranty Deed Document No. 544576 to the South line of Mackville Road. 
Thence South 89°51’03” East 107.95 feet coincident with the South line of Mackville 
Road to a highway vision corner; 
Thence South 44°49’45” East 119.00 feet coincident with said highway vision corner to 
the West line of Ballard Road (aka C.T.H. “EE”); 
Thence South 89°51’03” East 33.00 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
 
N2883 County Road EE, Tax Id Number 31-1-9315-00, including in the “Ziegler 
Mackville Road & EE Annexation” including to the centerline of the adjacent N. Ballard 
Road right-of-way 
 
Section 2: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication, and upon its passage and publication the Director of Community and Economic 

Development is authorized and directed to make the necessary changes to the Official Zoning Map 

in accordance with this Ordinance. 

 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 11-3-21
	0001_2_CC Minutes 11-10-21 Budget Adoption
	0002_1_IT Director Recommendation to Council
	0003_1_COVID-19 Common Council Update 111721
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4

	0004_1_RZ 11-21_Notice of Public Hearing
	RE: Proposed Zone Change

	0005_1_RZ 12-21_Notice of Public Hearing
	RE: Proposed Zone Change

	0006_1_Polling Place Assignment Resolution 2022
	0007_1_Municipal Code Section 9 Division 3 changes
	0008_1_Parklet Policy
	0009_1_800 W. Washington Speed Limit
	0010_1_Atlantic St west of Lawe St parking restriction
	0011_1_StaffReport_LightningDrive_JJAnnex_Rezoning_For10-27-21
	0012_1_StaffReport_Ziegler_MackvilleRd_EEAnnex_Rezoning_For10-27-21
	0013_1_StaffReport_CenterValleyat3800_PrePlat_For11-10-21
	Sheets and Views
	PRE PLAT


	0014_1_2022 Golf Rates Memo
	0014_2_Reid Redline Policy
	0014_3_Reid Rate Policy 2022
	CITY OF APPLETON
	Parks and Recreation Department


	0015_1_RISE-Houdini Plaza
	0016_1_Gyan-Gesture of Conscience Scupture-Jones Park
	0017_1_To The Moon Sculpture-Vulcan Heritage
	0018_1_Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC 11-10-21
	0018_2_2022 CDBG Advisory Board Membership
	0018_3_2022 CDBG Community Partner Award Recommendations
	0018_4_2022 CDBG Simple Summary Award Recommendations
	0018_5_Draft CDBG Policy 11-17-2021
	0019_1_Amend CDBG Policy Memo to CEDC 11-10-21
	0019_2_Draft CDBG Policy 11-17-2021
	0020_1_Merge Option Extension Memo_11-10-21
	0020_2_Merge Option Extension 2
	0020_3_Merge Option Extension 1
	0020_4_Merge Signed Planning Option 2-6-20
	0021_1_Fee Proposals 2021
	APPLETON HEALTH DEPARTMENT – Weights and Measures
	PROPOSED REVISIONS TO
	WEIGHTS AND MEASURES FEE SCHEDULE

	*Cities (Green Bay, De Pere, Menasha, Milwaukee, and Oshkosh)
	PROPOSED REVISIONS TO
	WEIGHTS AND MEASURES FEE SCHEDULE


	0022_1_Neenah Weights Measures Proposal
	0023_1_The Collective log of public dialogue-
	0023_2_Extension Support_McKee
	0023_3_Extension Support_Breseman
	0024_1_River Tyme Bistro SL
	0024_2_Denial Recommendation -River Tyme Bistro
	0025_1_Ordinances going to Council 11-17-21
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION:


